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IRS BUDGET AND ITS IMPACT ON TAX
SYSTEMS MODERNIZATION AND
MISCELLANEOUS TSM MATTERS

TUESDAY, MARCH 8, 1994

House of Representatives,
Commerce, Consumer, and

Monetary Affairs Subcommittee
of the Committee on Government Operations,

Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:40 a.m., in room
2247, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John M. Spratt, Jr.

(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives John M. Spratt, Jr., Marjorie
Margolies-Mezvinsky, Christopher Cox, and Stephen Horn.

Also present: Thomas S. Kahn, chief counsel; Richard W. Peter-

son, senior counsel; Jacquetta N. Teal, assistant clerk; and Jane
Cobb, minority professional staff, Committee on Government Oper-
ations.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN SPRATT

Mr. Spratt. Good morning. We are happy to welcome back this

morning Margaret Richardson, who is the Commissioner of the In-

ternal Revenue Service. We also want to welcome this morning
Robert Tobias, who is the president of the National Treasury Em-
ployees Union, who will testify following Commissioner Richardson.
Today we turn again to examine the Service's modernization pro-

gram, but today we particularly focus on efforts to enhance revenue
collection and to provide taxpayers with more efficient service. Our
subcommittee has taken a longstanding interest in the moderniza-
tion program, and we have worked closely with the Service in try-

ing to see the modernization program implemented and made effec-

tive.

Today we will primarily consider the 1995 budget request regard-
ing modernization, but we especially want to address an issue that
is not yet settled in the budget itself, and that is the issue of a
compliance initiative, the cost of which has not been included in

the budget request sent over by the administration.
In order for this initiative to be approved, it must be counted out-

side the current discretionary caps which are in force under the
various budget acts. Put otherwise, some sort of waiver, through
one device or another, will have to be obtained for the initiative to

be undertaken.

(1)



The Clinton administration supports such an initiative on the
grounds that it would generate greater revenue over 5 years than
it would cost. In his testimony on February 23 before the Senate
Finance Committee, Director of OMB, Leon Panetta, specifically

stated and endorsed special budgetary treatment on these grounds.
In the budget sent up by the Clinton administration, it was noted
that it is essentially asking for the same type of treatment which
was given to an IRS compliance initiative in 1990 and 1991 when
President Bush was in office.

Helping us to understand this issue, Mr. Tobias will address the
ability of the IRS to convert clerical personnel who are being freed
up, so to speak, made available as a result of modernization, to

convert these skills into more highly skilled employees who can
deal with matters such as increased compliance, and employees
who can become revenue agents and field auditors.

In addition, with respect to budgetary matters, we will hear
about the increase in appropriations for TSM hardware and soft-

ware. This year's budget provides for an increase of $681 million
to $989 million, a substantial increase; and we will ask what the
effects on acquisition, especially scheduling, are likely to be.

Finally, there are three miscellaneous TSM matters upon which
we will near testimony today: One is the shortfall in telephone ac-

cessibility for taxpayers in the 1993 tax season and its implications
for more sophisticated applications of telephone systems.
The second is the lack, to date, of an administration program to

make needed changes in tax statutes, such as not requiring actual
signatures for electronic filings so that TSM can work out more fea-

sibly.

Third, we would like information on what the IRS is doing to ad-
dress the efforts of individuals who steal money from the govern-
ment by obtaining IRS refunds that they do not actually deserve.
There have been some claims that the broadened use of electronic

filing has created new opportunities to undertake such tax fraud.

I will turn to the other members for opening statements, then we
will hear from the Commissioner, and then from the president of

the National Treasury Employees Union. But first let me turn to

Chris Cox, our ranking minority member, for an opening statement
on his behalf.

Mr. Cox. I would like to thank the chairman, and then I would
like to thank Commissioner Richardson and the balance of our
panel for being here today to discuss TSM, at an appropriate junc-

ture, when millions of Americans are busy preparing their tax re-

turns.

I am pleased that the IRS is now going to be joining the techno-

logical revolution that the rest of America is also involved with.

The multibillion-dollar investment should help speed up the proc-

ess of return evaluation and refund provision.

I am concerned, as TSM moves forward, that serious continuing
problems with taxpayer service be ameliorated rather than exacer-

bated.
TSM, by itself, doesn't address the fact that many taxpayers

struggling through the process can feel that the IRS is much more
like the Grim Reaper than Florence Nightingale. We have to en-

sure that, as a result of this investment, the process is more



human oriented, more service oriented than it has been in the past.

There is, of course, a risk that the opposite could occur. So I will

look forward to discussing with each of you this morning the man-
ner in which you expect to achieve these results through greater
investment in technology.
Thanks very much.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you, Mr. Cox.
Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky.
Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. I would just like to welcome the

panel. I met with the Commissioner yesterday and was intrigued
by what she had to say, and I think all of us will be.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you.
I would like to, at this point, enter in the record, if there is no

objection, a statement by Congressman Gene Green who could not
be here today, and also reserve for the record a statement to be
submitted by the full committee chairman, John Conyers. If there
is no objection, the two items will be placed in the record.

[The prepared statements of Mr. Conyers and Mr. Green follow:]



Statement of John Conyers, Jr.

March 8, 1994 Hearing
The Internal Revenue Service FY 1995 Budget

Committee on Government Operations,
Subcommittee on Commerce, Consumers and Monetary Affairs

Good morning. I want to thank Chairman Spratt for his
timely hearing on the IRS 1995 budget. As American taxpayers sit
down to prepare their tax returns on kitchen tables across
America, they want to be assured that tax collections are as
efficient and painless as possible and that all Americans are
called on to pay their fair share. If done well, the Tax System
Modernization (TSM) program at the Internal Revenue Service will
help sooth some of their fears.

In addition to the TSM program, however, I want to raise an
issue under the Government Operations Committee's jurisdiction
over our nation's budget laws. As Congressman Spratt well knows,
the Government Operations Committee has aggressively exercised
its jurisdiction over federal budget laws. Congressman Spratt
has frequently joined us at the Legislation Subcommittee for
various budget process hearings and, today, I am pleased to
return the favor.

Last year, on the 100th day of the Clinton presidency, the
House adopted enhanced rescission legislation. Subsequently,
with Congressman Spratt 's energy, the House adopted an
entitlement and revenue review mechanism requiring for the first
time Presidential and Congressional review of spending for
mandatory programs. The Committee also prepared the Deficit
Reduction Trust Fund legislation. Last year, both the
entitlement review process and the trust fund were enacted by
President Clinton as Executive Orders.

The President's FY 1995 budget includes an IRS initiative to
increase tax compliance. The multi-year proposal would add 5,000
"full time equivalents" (FTEs) for audits, collections and other
tax compliance activities. The proposal is similar to the FY
1991 IRS compliance initiative, adopted by Congress and the Bush
Administration in the 1990 Budget Agreement. As was true for the
FY 1991 initiative, the discretionary spending cap would be
increased by the amount appropriated for the compliance
initiative, approximately $405 million for FY 1995 or $2,025
billion over five years.

The Administration asserts the increased collections
triggered by the proposal would more then compensate for the



initial expenditure. Treasury Department estimates suggest the
FY 1991 initiative, on which the current proposal is based,
increased revenue collections by $4.7 billion over five years.
When combined with management savings the FY 1991 IRS compliance
initiative generated more than $13 billion in savings.

This budgetary treatment for these IRS compliance activities
raises several important guestions. What can Congress
anticipate, in terms of enhanced collections, decreased tax
delinguency rates or increased confidence in our tax system, by
pursuing this proposed initiative?

I am pleased Margaret Richardson, the Commissioner of the
Internal Revenue Service, and Robert Tobias, President of the
National Treasury Employees Union, could join us this morning.
The Committee will certainly benefit from your views on the 1995
IRS compliance initiative.



Opening Statement of Representative Gene Green
Government Operations Subcommittee on Commerce, Consumer

and Monetary Affairs

Thank you, Mr. Chairman for holding this

hearing today. One of the main issues of this

hearing will deal with the intersection of two of the

more prominent issues facing this Congress and

future Congresses: reinventing government and the

strict budget rules that prevent us from increasing

the deficit.

Both ideas originated out of the belief that the

size of the bureaucracy and the obligations of the

government in general have become unwieldy. But

there also has to be a recognition that some

increases in some federal agencies or programs are



justified on the basis of the likelihood of improved

future performance. Congress must be convinced to

a high degree that waivers in the budget rules are

necessary, and rightly so. However, the Congress

must take care not to be penny wise and pound

foolish.

The Internal Revenue Services' Tax

Modernization System plan may be just one of those

cases. The IRS is seeking 5,000 additional full-time

equivalent positions and more money to improve its

technological and investigative capabilities. Some

analysts claim that this short-term investment will

yield long-term results in the forms of improved

customer service, reduction of fraud, and increased

collection of tax revenues.
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I am sure I am not alone among my colleagues

in my eagerness to see such results. It is now

incumbent that today's panel make a strong case for

Congress to take the required steps to make those

results a reality.



Mr. Spratt. Now, with that introduction, let me turn the floor

over to you, Madam Commissioner, and welcome you once again to
our committee. We look forward to your testimony. We have your
prepared testimony. We will make it a part of the record, so if you
see fit to summarize parts of it, it will nevertheless be in the
record.

The floor is yours.

STATEMENT OF MARGARET MILNER RICHARDSON, COMMIS-
SIONER, INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, ACCOMPANIED BY
MICHAEL DOLAN, DEPUTY COMMISSIONER; LARRY
WESTFALL, MODERNIZATION EXEC17HVE; HANK PHILCOX,
CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER; DAVE MADER, CHffiF, MAN-
AGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION; AND JUDY VAN ALFEN,
CHIEF, TAXPAYER SERVICES

Ms. Richardson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the in-

troduction and I would like to summarize our written testimony.
Mr. Chairman and distinguished members of the subcommittee,

I appreciate the opportunity to be here today to continue discussing
our plans for reinventing the Internal Revenue Service to better
serve the American taxpayer and to increase voluntary compliance.
With me today are Michael Dolan, who is the Deputy Commis-

sioner, on my right; the IRS' Modernization Executive, Larry
Westfall, on Mr. Dolan's right; the Chief Information Officer, Hank
Philcox, at the end of the table; Dave Mader, who is on my left,

is the Chief, Management and Administration; and our Chief, Tax-
payer Services, Judy Van Alfen, who is immediately behind me, as
there wasn't room at the table for her.

Mr. Chairman, we are moving ahead with our plans to reinvent
the IRS and to make our business vision, the vision of how we will

conduct our business in the future, a reality. Since my last appear-
ance before this subcommittee, on November 17, we have an-
nounced more details about our reorganization plan, and we have
awarded a number of the most significant Tax Systems Moderniza-
tion contracts.

As we discussed at that hearing, assuring the security and integ-
rity of our computer systems and the confidentiality of taxpayer in-

formation is perhaps the most important responsibility that the In-

ternal Revenue Service has to the American public. Tax Systems
Modernization enhances our capabilities to meet that responsibil-
ity.

Today, in addition to discussing the status of our reinvention ef-

forts, I want to focus on our Tax Systems Modernization procure-
ments and on our human resource planning. I also want to report
on the status of proposed Tax Systems Modernization legislation

that you mentioned in your opening statement and to provide you
with an overview of the two most important parts of our proposed
fiscal year 1995 budget, an increase for Tax Systems Modernization
and the funding requested for a tax compliance initiative.

On November 30, 1993, we announced our decision to consolidate
the returns processing operations, now performed in 10 service cen-
ters, into five submission processing sites. We also announced our
decision to consolidate the 70 telephone sites that we now have in
44 geographic locations into 23 customer service sites.
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These site selections were based on a carefully developed set of

criteria which took into account factors such as cost, productivity,

quality, ability to recruit, and work force diversity. Application of

these factors allowed us to make our selections in a fair and con-

sistent manner—designed to assure the best performance at the

lowest cost.

Although we recognize that the transition to our business vision

cannot occur overnight, we are making significant progress. Today
I want to highlight for you some of the major activities that we
have underway.
The five submission processing centers are going to look very dif-

ferent from the 10 service centers we have today. They will receive,

control, image, and process paper tax returns, information docu-

ments, W-2's, and correspondence. Employees at submission proc-

essing centers will also resolve errors that do not require taxpayer

contact.

While electronic filing is at the core of our business vision, we
are also implementing the technological changes that are needed to

process much more efficiently the paper documents that we still

will receive. The heart of our future paper processing, storage and
retrieval operation is our document processing system, which is

being developed in Austin, TX, and is now scheduled to be piloted

in fiscal year 1995. The $1.3 billion award of this major procure-

ment was announced last week, and the major document process-

ing system hardware acquisition will occur in fiscal year 1996.

A version of this technology, which we call the service center rec-

ognition input processing system, is being piloted at our Cincinnati

service center. This is a character recognition and imaging system
for processing our simpler documents, such as Federal tax deposits,

information returns, employment tax returns, and Forms 1040EZ.
Upon completion of that pilot, we are scheduled to install the sys-

tem in the four remaining submission processing centers later this

year.

The 1040PC is another approach we are testing to reduce the

amount of paper and increase our efficiency in processing. This al-

ternative allows taxpayers and practitioners, using personal com-
puter software, to prepare returns in a shortened format. The
1040PC contains only the line entries needed by the taxpayer to

file the return without the associated narrative.

The printed 1040PC format can reduce a typical 12-page return

to 2 pages, and the software can eliminate some common errors

taxpayers may make when transferring figures from worksheets to

the tax return. We have already received about 874,000 1040PC re-

turns this filing season.
Today, as you know, we provide account-related taxpayer inquir-

ies and correspondence service in many types of locations. We have
a customer service concept of the future that will blend these ac-

tivities and rely heavily on telephone assistance. The customer
service concept will provide taxpayers with the information and as-

sistance they need to comply with the tax laws. It will also provide

us with early opportunities to resolve payment and filing issues

and collect amounts due.

Effective telephone contact with taxpayers depends upon auto-

mated menus and scripts developed with the needs of taxpayers in
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mind, including language and instructions that are clear and un-

derstandable. Taxpayers have told us, in customer interviews, that

they want to be assured they can talk directly with a tax assister,

if necessary. They have said, that critical to the success of a voice

response unit is access to a live assister as well as short, easy
menus and brief waiting times. We are listening to what they have
to say.

We understand that access to our telephone system is critical to

the success of the customer service concept, and we are taking nu-
merous steps to assure accessibility. We have recently implemented
a customer service network that will allow us to transfer calls so

they can be answered more timely. We have added additional tele-

phone equipment with automated call distributors, and we have of-

fered extended hours of service over some weekends and holidays.

An example of the flexibility in our telephone assistance that we
have been able to incorporate already was recently demonstrated
in California. We were able to provide assistance to California

earthquake victims by transferring our telephone workload from
our California phone sites so that those assisters could support the

Federal Emergency Management Agency effort. Those assisters

then helped over 28,000 taxpayers by providing them with their

records and other relevant tax information, so that the taxpayers
could take advantage of available disaster assistance.

Last July we announced that 3 computing centers, instead of the

12 we currently have, would be responsible for all of our corporate
computing in the future. Our business vision is based on an envi-

ronment where returns are filed and payments are made electroni-

cally. We are already making this electronic environment a reality.

In January, we awarded the corporate systems modernization
contract, which will allow us to replace our existing mainframe
computers that will run out of capacity by 1995, with more efficient

ones. This award will allow us to stay in the business of updating
taxpayer accounts, to make some modest improvements in the
amount of taxpayer information we can access, to greatly enhance
storage capacity for disks and tapes, and to realize immediate pro-

ductivity gains. Basically, it bridges the interim between now and
our full implementation of Tax Systems Modernization.
Another major procurement, which will take place next year, is

the service center support system contract. This contract moves us
away from having employees manually enter data to complete on-

line access of tax information by front-line employees. Such access
results in prompt resolution of taxpayer issues.

We are continuing to phase in the electronic funds transfer sys-

tem for the payment of Federal tax deposits. Electronic funds
transfer of Federal tax deposits will accelerate funds to the Treas-
ury and reduce the paperwork burden on taxpayers. This system
reflects a major step forward in shifting from a paper remittance
processing environment to an information processing environment.
By 1999, we anticipate that more than 85 million business tax pay-
ments will be made electronically.

Electronically filed returns have proven benefits, including fewer
errors, which means fewer IRS notices and fewer contacts with tax-

payers. Through February 25 of this year, we had received 9.9 mil-

lion electronically filed returns, compared to 9.2 million for the
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same period last year. Actually, as of the end of last week, we have
had about 11.2 million filed.

In 23 States, joint electronic filing is also an option, which means
that taxpayers can satisfy both State and Federal obligations with

a single electronic transmission. We have received over 842,000
joint electronically filed returns, which represents a 56-percent in-

crease over last year. We are offering electronic preparation and fil-

ing at over 40 of our offices this year, and we plan to expand that
service to additional offices next year.

In addition, we are testing the feasibility of filing returns from
home computers through an "on-line provider" of network services.

We have also continued the growth of our Telefile Program, which
permits taxpayers to file from home or from anywhere they can use
a touch-tone telephone. Telefile is now available in seven States,

and as of March 6, 1994, we have received over 435,000 returns on

Telefile, compared to 176,000 during that same period last year.

We are also aggressively changing our district office operations

by utilizing a better balanced approach among education, advanced
compliance research, and enhanced enforcement. Enhancing our re-

search capabilities is the linchpin of improving our compliance ef-

forts. Those research and compliance capabilities will be greatly

improved by our compliance research information system, our to-

tally integrated examination system, an integrated collection sys-

tem, and an integrated case processing system.
This last system is the system that will pull together, over time,

each of the three systems I just referred to and allow basically in-

stant access to all of them from the desk tops of our employees.
Later this month, a number of our Tax Systems Modernization

projects are going to be available for you to see here in Washing-
ton, DC. We are setting up a display of our major projects, using
sample data and actual hardware. I look forward to having you,

Mr. Chairman, and the other members of the subcommittee and
your staff come down and see firsthand what the new IRS will look

like.

Critical to achieving our business vision is the commitment and
acceptance of it by our employees. They must be active participants

in how we make our business vision a reality. Our employees must
also be able to offer suggestions and improvements in how we do
our business, in order to improve the way we accomplish our mis-

sion today and in the future.

We also recognize the vital importance of providing opportunities

to our employees to realize their full potential, by giving them the

tools necessary to do their jobs and in teaching them how to use
those tools. For example, the former tax examiners and taxpayer
service representatives at our customer service center prototype

sites, in Fresno and in Nashville, have been extensively involved in

defining their new positions as customer service representatives.

Our employees' response thus far to this very active involvement
has been extremely positive.

Work system design is an ongoing effort at the IRS to involve our
employees in developing high performance work systems that en-

hance customer service, quality, timeliness, productivity, and em-
ployee commitment. The document processing system [DPS] de-

scribed earlier is one of those systems. Over 700 employees and
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managers at all 10 of our service centers and at IRS headquarters,
along with representatives from the National Treasury Employees
Union, have actively participated in data gathering, analysis, de-
sign, and in the review of the DPS system.
We have entered into a redeployment understanding with the

National Treasury Employees Union whereby we have agreed upon
an orderly transition to reinventing the way we do business, by
redirecting our employees to front-line customer service and com-
pliance work. That redeployment understanding builds on the com-
mitment to our work force that no career or career conditional em-
f>loyee whose job is substantially impacted by new technology will

ose his or her job.

I know Mr. Tobias, the president of NTEU, will be testifying
later this morning, but I want to publicly thank him and his mem-
bers for their support during this process. We have had a very con-
structive dialog. Although, as I'm sure you will hear later, we have
not necessarily agreed on every single point, I think we have had
an open and frank discussion, and I think we have done a lot to-

ward making the redeployment agreement a reality. So I do want
to thank them for their help.
You asked, Mr. Chairman, in your invitation letter about legisla-

tion that we need to implement our business vision. In our last
hearing, we discussed the legislation that was needed for us to im-
plement that vision. Two provisions were included in H.R. 3419:
One provides that reproductions from digital images will have the
same legal status as original documents, and the other would per-
mit payment of Internal Revenue taxes by credit card and other
commercially acceptable means that the Secretary of the Treasury
deems appropriate. That legislation, I think, is currently on the
House legislative calendar, having been reported out of the Ways
and Means Committee.

Since our last hearing, we have also worked diligently with the
Treasury Department to develop an administration package of
three other legislative proposals. Those proposals are currently
being reviewed at the Department. The proposal would authorize
the Secretary to first prescribe the extent and conditions under
which the filing of returns will be required to be made by magnetic
media or electronic transmission.

Second, it would authorize the Secretary to provide for alter-
native methods of verifying, signing, and subscribing returns and
other statements, and third, also authorize the Secretary to pre-
scribe alternative methods of submitting written declarations,
statements, or other documents required by the Internal Revenue
Code to be attached to any return. This subcommittee's support for
the pending legislation, as well as these proposals the Department
of Treasury will be submitting, is very much appreciated, and we
look forward to working with you to accomplishing and getting
them enacted.

I want to turn now to the fiscal year 1995 budget. There are two
parts of that I wanted to highlight. First is an increase of $311 mil-
lion for Tax Systems Modernization, which reflects our continued
commitment and the continued commitment of this administration
to reinvent the IRS through new business processes and advanced
technology.
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Equally significant is the commitment which is reflected in a
$405 million compliance initiative that is focused on reducing the
budget deficit by strengthening compliance with the tax laws. We
want to work with Congress to find a way to make this additional
investment in tax compliance.
Over the next several years, the Internal Revenue Service will

have an opportunity to realign employees from processing and ac-

counts maintenance jobs to front-line compliance and customer
service work. If we could do that, we could greatly strengthen com-
pliance activities in future years without increasing our overall

staffing.

Both Secretary Bentsen and OMB Director Panetta have recently
endorsed our compliance initiative in congressional testimony. I

think Secretary Bentsen said it best when he said, "We know that
when we spend money to improve tax compliance, it pays us back
several times over." For that reason, beginning in fiscal year 1995,
the administration has proposed an additional $405 million for in-

creased compliance efforts, a proposal which we hope this sub-
committee will support.

We think this proposal simply makes good business sense. First,

the investment in compliance will yield revenue without increasing
taxes. From a Federal bookkeeping perspective, the initiative will

pay for itself many times over in additional receipts, even without
accounting for the beneficial effect on voluntary compliance.

Second, the IRS is the principal revenue center of the Federal
Government. We account for over 90 percent of all Federal receipts.

Our system of taxation depends on the willingness of taxpayers to

voluntarily pay their taxes. This willingness rests on the under-
standing that IRS has the ability to ensure that those who fail to

comply voluntarily will be required to pay their proper share.
Third, our compliance programs do need to be strengthened. Ap-

proximately 83 percent of the taxes due are voluntarily reported
and paid on time, but that means that approximately 17 percent
are not. We estimate that for each 1-percent increase in compliance
we could raise between $7 billion and $10 billion annually without
any tax increase or without any change in the tax law.

I believe that we at the Internal Revenue Service are in an un-
precedented position to improve compliance. First, compliance is a
priority of mine and of this organization. Second, I have drawn
clear lines of responsibility for improving compliance. As part of

our national office reorganization recently, I created the position of
Chief Compliance Officer, who reports directly to the Deputy Com-
missioner and to me.

I have taken steps to make 7 regional commissioners and the 63
district directors personally accountable for improving voluntary
compliance in their areas. In each of the seven regions, we have
given a senior executive the specific charter, as the regional compli-
ance officer, to integrate our efforts in ways that will result in sig-

nificant improvements in compliance.
Our effort to improve compliance is not based merely on a reli-

ance on strict enforcement programs. We are building a compliance
research capability that will allow us to see and to react to dif-

ferent trends among similar groups of taxpayers, to measure com-
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pliance levels on a timely and frequent basis, and to assess the re-

sults of different compliance activities.

Through a combination of new technology, business systems re-

design, customer service outreach, strategic partnerships, and leg-

islative and administrative initiatives, we are confident that we
can positively influence compliance rates.

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you and the other subcommittee
members for your support of our Tax Systems Modernization effort

and for the advice and counsel you have offered us over the years.

My colleagues and I would now be happy to try to answer any
questions you or the other subcommittee members may have.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Richardson follows:]
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Mr. Chairman and distinguished Members of the Subcommittee:

I appreciate the opportunity to be here to continue discussing our plans for

reinventing the Internal Revenue Service to better serve the American taxpayer and to

increase voluntary compliance. With me are the Deputy Commissioner, Michael

Dolan; the IRS' Modernization Executive, Larry Westfall; the Chief Information Officer,

Hank Philcox; Chief of Management and Administration, Dave Mader; and the Chief of

Taxpayer Services, Judy Van Alfen.

Mr. Chairman, we are moving ahead with our plans to reinvent the IRS and to

make our Business Vision -- the vision of how we will conduct our business in the

future -- a reality. Since my last appearance before this subcommittee on November

17, we have announced more details about our reorganization plan, and we have

awarded a number of the most significant Tax Systems Modernization (TSM)

contracts. As we discussed at that hearing, assuring the security and integrity of our

computer systems and the confidentiality of taxpayer information is perhaps the most

important responsibility that the Internal Revenue Service has to the American public;

TSM enhances our capabilities to meet that responsibility.
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Today, in addition to discussing the status of our reinvention efforts, I want to

focus on our TSM procurements and our human resource planning. I also want to

report on the status of proposed TSM legislation and to provide you an overview of

our proposed FY 1995 budget, including the funding requested for a tax compliance

initiative.

PROGRESS TOWARDS REINVENTING IRS

On November 30, 1993, we announced our decision to consolidate the returns

processing operations now performed in ten service centers into five Submission

Processing sites which will be located at our existing service centers in Austin, TX;

Memphis, TN; Cincinnati, OH; Kansas City, MO; and Ogden, Utah. We also

announced our decision to consolidate the 70 telephone sites in the 44 geographic

locations that we now have into 23 Customer Service sites. The Submission

Processing and Customer Service site selections were based on a carefully developed

set of criteria which took into account such factors as cost, productivity, quality, ability

to recruit, and workforce diversity. Application of these factors allowed us to make our

selections in a fair and consistent manner designed to ensure the best performance at

the lowest cost.

We are continuing our efforts to identify all the actions necessary to make our

Business Vision a reality. To supplement existing plans, we are developing a Business

Master Plan, a document which will provide a high level view of the business,

technology and human resources activities necessary to achieve our strategic

objectives. The Business Master Plan will be issued this spring and will be updated
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annually. We are also developing an Integrated Transition Plan and Schedule which

will be our roadmap from which to manage progress in implementing our Business

Vision. The Integrated Transition Plan and Schedule will enable us to manage within

the Business Master Plan framework while we focus in a much more detailed way on

the business, technological and human resource actions required as we reinvent the

Internal Revenue Service.

Although we recognize that the transition can not occur overnight, we are making

significant progress, and I want to highlight some of the major activities that are

underway.

• Submission Processing Centers

The five Submission Processing Centers will have a very different look in

comparison to our ten Service Centers today. They will receive, control, image and

process paper tax returns, information documents, W-2's and correspondence.

Employees at Submission Processing Centers will also resolve errors that do not

require taxpayer contact.

The volume of electronically filed returns is steadily increasing, and we are

developing initiatives to promote further increases, but we are also implementing the

technological changes that are needed to process much more efficiently the paper

documents we will still receive. The heart of our future paper processing, storage and

retrieval operation is the Document Processing System (DPS) . DPS is being

developed in Austin, Texas, and is scheduled to be piloted in FY 1995. The $1.3
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billion award of this major procurement was announced on February 28; the major

DPS hardware acquisition will occur in FY 1996.

A version of this technology, the Service Center Recognition Input Processing

System (SCRIPS) , is now coming on line in our pilot at the Cincinnati Service Center.

SCRIPS is a character recognition and imaging system for processing our more simple

documents such as federal tax deposits, information returns, employment tax returns

and Forms 1040EZ. Upon completion of the pilot, we are scheduled to install the

system in the four remaining Submission Processing centers later this year.

The 1040 PC is another approach we are testing to reduce the amount of paper

and increase our efficiency in processing. This alternative allows taxpayers and

practitioners using personal computer software to prepare returns in a shortened

format. The 1040 PC format contains only the line entries needed by the taxpayer to

file the return without the associated narrative. The printed 1040 PC format can

reduce a typical 12 page return to two pages, and the software can eliminate some

common errors taxpayers may make when transferring figures from worksheets to the

tax return. We have already received 874,000 1040 PC returns this filing season.

• Customer Service Centers

Today, we provide account-related taxpayer inquiries and correspondence service

in many types of locations including Automated Collection System sites, Taxpayer

Service toll-free sites and in service center account-related activities and compliance

areas. Our Customer Service concept will blend these activities. Under our Business

Vision, compliance begins with customer service. Customer service will provide
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taxpayers with the information and assistance they need to comply with the tax laws.

It will also provide the IRS with early opportunities to resolve payment and filing issues

and collect amounts due. IRS employees at our Customer Service centers will handle

all taxpayer inquiries, such as early resolution of account issues, collections,

installment agreements, more simple examinations, tax law questions, forms requests,

and nonfiler and underreporter issues, that do not require face-to-face contact.

We have taken several major steps towards establishing our new Customer

Service centers. We have developed a detailed Concept of Operations which will

provide us with an operating framework for the fully operational Customer Service

centers by 2001. Blended work concepts and the evolution of work from

correspondence to telephone are being tested at two Customer Service prototype

sites. In Nashville, we are combining our Automated Collection System and Taxpayer

Service toll-free operations. In Fresno, we are testing several approaches to

encourage taxpayers to use the telephone instead of correspondence to resolve

account issues.

Effective telephone contact with taxpayers depends on automated menus and

scripts developed with the needs of the taxpayer in mind, including language and

instructions that are clear and understandable. In developing our voice response

units, we have taken that into consideration with the help of the Behavioral Science

Research Center at the Bureau of Labor Statistics. They also helped us incorporate

the latest industry standards and practices into these automated routing scripts and

menus.
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Customer satisfaction is crucial in our successful movement to telephone service

using voice response units. Surveys and interviews with customers revealed that they

want to be assured they can talk directly with a tax assistor if necessary. Customer

interviews in one pilot indicated that our "menu" scored an 86% satisfaction rating. A

1993 customer satisfaction survey revealed that for almost 60% of the taxpayers

surveyed their preferred method of contact was through the telephone. They said that

the characteristics critical to successful voice response units are access to a live

assistor, short, easy menus and brief waiting times.

Access to our telephone system is critical to its success, and we are taking

numerous steps to assure accessibility. We have recently implemented a Customer

Service Network that will allow us to equalize access by transferring calls so they can

be answered more timely, installed additional telephone equipment with Automated

Call Distributors, and offered extended hours of service over some weekends and

some holidays. An example of our flexibility in our telephone assistance was

demonstrated in California. We were able to provide assistance to California

earthquake victims by transferring our telephone workload from our California phone

sites to other parts of the country so that those California assistors could support the

Federal Emergency Management Agency effort. Those assistors helped over 28,000

of our California taxpayers by providing them with their records and other relevant tax

information, so that they could take advantage of available disaster assistance.

Another example of how we are changing our business to improve service is the

way we handle account inquiries. Before 1989, a high percentage of callers were able



23

to access the system but many were advised to call the service center to resolve

account issues. With new technology and expanded authority, toll-free assistors now

resolve more of the taxpayers' account inquiries immediately, saving the taxpayers

time and reducing their level of frustration. From June 27 to February 26, we have

closed almost 6.4 million account inquiries while the taxpayer was on the phone. This

is a 31.1% increase over last year.

Based on our success at the Ogden Service Center, we have expanded the

Automated Underreporter System (AUR) to three additional sites thus far this year and

will implement two final sites before FY 1994 ends. AUR automatically matches wages

and other income with taxpayers' tax account information to determine if they reported

their income correctly. This state-of-the-art system has reduced the number of

incorrect notices sent to taxpayers, thereby reducing their burden, decreasing the

amount of time spent on each case, and consequently cutting the cost of our

operations significantly.

• Computing Centers

Last July, we announced that three Computing Centers located in Memphis, TN.;

Detroit, Ml; and Martinsburg, WV, instead of the 12 we currently have, would be

responsible for all of our corporate computing in the future. The primary mission of

these centers will be to support tax processing through data processing and

telecommunications infrastructure. Several major activities that will enable us to

transition to our new Computing Center environment are underway.
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Our Business Vision is based on an environment where returns are filed and

payments are made electronically. We are already making this electronic environment

a reality:

- We are developing a detailed Concept of Operations which will provide us

with an operating framework for the Computing Centers of the future.

- In January, we awarded the Corporate Systems Modernization/Mirror Image

Acquisition contract, which will allow us to replace the mainframe computers

at the Martinsburg and Detroit Computing Centers with more efficient ones.

With the existing mainframe computers out of capacity by 1995, this award

will allow us to stay in the business of updating taxpayer accounts, to make

modest improvements in the amount of taxpayer information we can access,

to greatly enhance storage capacity for discs and tapes, and to realize

immediate productivity gains. In addition, Corporate Systems Modernization

will provide enhanced operational efficiencies including automated tape

libraries and centralized monitoring and control.

- Another major procurement is the Service Center Support System contract.

This contract continues our journey away from having employees key

entering data on one system, dumping that information between service

centers and computing centers, and only updating the master file accounts

on a weekly basis. This procurement is a major step forward toward

complete, on-line access of tax information by front-line employees which
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will lead to prompt resolution of issues. The contract award for this system

will take place next year.

We are also readying our physical plants for the future. Necessary

construction for the Detroit Computing Center and Martinsburg Computing

Center Annex is scheduled for completion in April 1995, and the first phase

of the Memphis Computing Center building is scheduled for June 1995.

This year, we are continuing to phase in the electronic funds transfer system

for payment of federal tax deposits. Electronic funds transfer of federal tax

deposits will accelerate funds to the Treasury and reduce the paperwork

burden on taxpayers. This system reflects a major step forward in shifting

from a paper remittance processing environment to an information

processing environment. By 1999, we anticipate that more than 85 million

business tax payments will be made electronically.

Electronically filed returns have proven benefits, including fewer errors,

which means fewer IRS notices and contacts with taxpayers, prompter

refunds and an option that allows taxpayers to have their refunds deposited

directly with a financial institution. Through February 25, 1994, we have

already received 9.9 million electronically filed returns compared to 9.2

million for the same period last year. This represents a 7.6% increase.

Joint electronic filing is also an option in 23 states, including South Carolina,

which means that taxpayers can satisfy both state and federal obligations

with a single electronic transmission. We have received over 842,000 joint
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electronically filed returns, a 56% increase over the prior year. We are

offering electronic preparation and filing at more than 40 of our offices, and

we plan to expand this service to additional offices next year. In addition,

we are testing the feasibility of filing returns from home computers through

an "on-line provider" of network services.

- We have also continued the growth of the Telefile program. Telefile permits

taxpayers to file using their touch-tone telephones. It is now available in

seven states, including South Carolina, and as of March 6, 1994, we have

received over 435,000 returns on Telefile, a 247 percent increase over the

same period last year. We had projected that about 550,000 returns would

be filed using Telefile this filing season, and we anticipate that we will

definitely exceed that number.

• District Offices

We plan to enhance our front-line, face-to-face taxpayer contact operations in our

district offices, utilizing a better-balanced approach among education, advanced

compliance research, and enhanced enforcement. Enhancing our research

capabilities is the linchpin of our compliance improvement efforts. Our research and

compliance capabilities will be greatly improved by:

- The Compliance Research Information System (CRIS) will enable us to

measure voluntary compliance levels nationally and locally. CRIS will be

prototyped and then installed in 31 primary (Including International) and 33

satellite district office research and analysis sites across the country.

10
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- The Totally Integrated Examination System (TIES) , successfully tested in the

Ogden Service Center and the Dallas District Office, will be installed in five

more districts -- Aberdeen, Boise, Las Vegas, Phoenix and Sacramento --

this year. TIES will substantially improve our examiners' productivity and will

be a significant benefit to taxpayers, since it will reduce the time period to

complete an examination by as much as several months.

- The Integrated Collection System (ICS) , which automates the assignment

and management of active collection cases has been prototyped, and we

are in the final stages of evaluating those results. From our preliminary

evaluation, it appears that both the IRS and taxpayers will benefit.

- The Integrated Case Processing System -- is a fully integrated system which

will fold together over time CRIS, TIES and ICS. While the initial designs for

these systems were originated in independent compliance functions, our

controlling project structure will ensure that they are fully integrated.

Later this month, a number of the TSM projects I have described will be available

for you to see here in Washington, D.C. We will have a display of most of TSM's

major projects using sample data and actual hardware, and I look forward to having

members of this Subcommittee and their staffs see firsthand the new IRS.

HUMAN RESOURCE PLANNING

Critical to achieving our Business Vision is the commitment and acceptance of it

by our employees. They must be active participants in how we make our Business

Vision a reality. Our employees must also be able to offer suggestions and

11
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improvements in how we do our business in order to improve the way we accomplish

our mission today and in the future. We also recognize the vital importance of

providing opportunities to our employees to realize their full potential by giving them

the tools necessary to do their jobs and teaching them how to use those tools.

• Employee Involvement

The former Tax Examiners and Taxpayer Service Representatives at the Customer

Service Center prototype sites in Fresno and Nashville have been involved in defining

their new positions as Customer Service Representatives. Extensive research has

been conducted to determine the proper skills for this new "blended" position. A skills

analysis, which assesses the employee's current skill level against the required skills

for the new position is being evaluated throughout the prototype process. Any

identified "skills gap" will be used to customize training for employees with similar

needs. Employee response to this level of involvement has been very positive.

• Working Environment

We also recognize the importance office environment plays in our efforts to

change the way we do business. To ensure re-engineered space is available when

needed, we have entered into a unique partnership effort with the General Services

Administration (GSA) to coordinate development of the Submission Processing sites.

We are meeting with GSA to discuss site-by-site design criteria, temporary space

needs, transition plans, budget requirements, and implementation schedules. With the

excellent service and cooperation we are receiving from GSA, we anticipate meeting all

12
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of our schedules. Phase I of the Austin Submission Processing center is scheduled to

be completed in January 1995.

• Work Systems Design

Work Systems Design is an ongoing effort in the IRS to involve employees in

developing high performance work systems that enhance customer service, quality,

timeliness, productivity, and employee commitment. It brings together all of the

organization, people, information technology and workplace issues. The Document

Processing System (DPS) described earlier is one of those systems. Over 700

employees and managers at all ten service centers, IRS headquarters, and

representatives from National Treasury Employees Union (NTEU) have actively

participated in data gathering, analysis, design, and review of the DPS system.

• Employee Redeployment Strategy

On November 24, 1993, the NTEU and IRS entered into a Redeployment

Understanding whereby we agreed upon an orderly transition to reinventing the way

we do business by redirecting our employees to front-line compliance and customer

service initiatives. That Redeployment Understanding builds on our commitment to

our workforce reflected in Policy Statement P-0-112, that no career or career-

conditional employee whose job is substantially impacted by new technology will lose

a job. The Redeployment Understanding was developed through cooperative IRS-

NTEU efforts working outside the traditional negotiation process.

13
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LEGISLATION NEEDED FOR OUR BUSINESS VISION

At our last hearing we discussed the legislation needed for us to implement our

Business Vision. Since that hearing, we have worked diligently with Treasury to

develop an Administration package of these legislative proposals. We submitted five

legislative proposals along with draft legislative language to the Department of the

Treasury in December 1993, and that legislation is currently being reviewed by the

Department. The five proposals are:

• Electronic Filing of Returns : Authorize the Secretary to prescribe by regulations

the extent and conditions under which the filing of returns will be required to be made

by magnetic media or electronic transmission.

• Alternative Methods for Verifying Returns : Authorize the Secretary to provide

for alternative methods of verifying, signing, and subscribing returns and other

statements.

• Alternative Methods for Submitting Attachments to Electronically Filed Returns :

Authorize the Secretary to prescribe alternative methods of submitting written

declarations, statements, or other documents required by the Internal Revenue Code

to be attached to any return.

• Use of Reproductions of Returns Stored in Digital Image Format : Provide that

reproductions from digital images have the same legal status as original documents.

This provision was included in HR 3419, which has been reported out of the Ways and

Means Committee and has been placed on the House legislative calendar.

14
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• Payment of Tax by Credit Card : Permit payment of internal revenue taxes by

credit card and other commercially acceptable means that the Secretary deems

appropriate. (This provision was also included in HR 3419 and is supported by the

Vice President's National Performance Review report.)

The Subcommittee's support for these proposals is very much appreciated.

FY 1995 BUDGET

Our proposed FY 1995 budget of $7,613 billion and 109,656 FTE represents an

increase of $261 million or 3.5 percent, but a decrease of 3,169 FTE over FY 1994

levels. The $31 1 million and 229 FTE increase for Tax Systems Modernization-reflect

our continued thrust to reinvent the IRS through new business processes and

advanced technology. Highlights of the budget request include:

• Three new user fees totalling $147 million, proposed as offset to our

appropriation request, are for special services to particular taxpayers that are beyond

normal filing or payment obligations. They include: (1) a direct deposit indicator

charge for financial institutions who have requested the direct deposit indicator in

connection with electronic filing refund anticipation loans ($87.2 million); (2) installment

agreement charges ($54.4 million); and (3) an increase in the amount of tax return

copy fees ($5.0 million).

• A $405 million and 5000 FTE Compliance initiative focused on reducing the

budget deficit by strengthening compliance with the tax laws.

• The FY 1995 budget reflects the Administration's plan to work with the

Congress to find a way to make an additional investment in tax compliance. Over the

15
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next several years, IRS will have an opportunity to realign employees from processing

and accounts maintenance jobs to front line compliance and customer service work,

which would permit us to greatly strengthen compliance activities in future years

without increasing overall IRS staffing.

As Secretary Bentsen stated in his testimony before the Budget Committee in

February, we need to make a special effort to collect more of the taxes that are on the

books now, and we should start immediately. We know that when we spend money

to improve tax compliance, it pays us back several times over. Therefore, beginning in

FY 1995, the Administration has proposed an additional $405 million for increased

compliance efforts. We think that this approach would promote sound tax

administration and make good business sense:

• First, this investment yields revenue without increasing taxes. From a federal

bookkeeping perspective, the initiative will pay for itself many times over in additional

receipts, without accounting for the beneficial effect on voluntary compliance.

• Second, the IRS is the principal revenue center of the Federal government,

accounting for over 90 % of all receipts. Our system of taxation depends on the

willingness of taxpayers to voluntarily pay their taxes. This willingness rests on the

understanding that IRS has the ability to ensure that those who fail to comply

voluntarily will be required to pay their proper share.

• Third, our compliance programs need to be strengthened. Approximately 83

percent of taxes due are voluntarily reported and paid on time. That means that

approximately 17 percent are not. We estimate that for each one percent increase in

16
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compliance, we can raise between $7 and $10 billion annually, without any tax

increase or a change in the tax law.

• I believe that the IRS is in an unprecedented position to improve compliance

with the tax laws. First, compliance is a priority of mine and of the organization.

Second, I have drawn clear lines of responsibility for improving compliance:

- As part of the National Office reorganization, I created a Chief Compliance

Officer who reports directly to the Deputy Commissioner and me;

-
I have taken steps to make the seven Regional Commissioners and 63

District Directors personally accountable for improving voluntary compliance

in their areas; and

- We have given a senior executive in each of these regions specific charters

as Regional Compliance Officers to integrate compliance efforts in ways that

will undoubtedly result in significant improvements.

Our effort to improve compliance is much broader than a reliance on strict

enforcement programs. We are building a compliance research capability that will

allow us to see and react to different trends among similar groups of taxpayers,

measure compliance levels on a timely and frequent basis, and assess the results of

different compliance activities. In addition, our Enforcement Revenue Information

System is tracking actual case results -- not just how successful we are at various

stages of working a case and for the first time in our history we will have a

management information systems that will allow us to use our resources more

effectively. Through a combination of new technology, business systems redesign,

17
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customer service outreach, strategic partnerships, and legislative and administrative

initiatives, we are confident we can positively influence compliance rates.

CONCLUSION

We are making significant progress in our effort to reinvent the IRS. In addition,

we have a strategy for investing the productivity savings from TSM so that they will

yield positive results -- increased revenue and improved voluntary compliance. Every

law abiding citizen should applaud these efforts.

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you and the other Subcommittee members for your

support for our TSM effort and for the advice and counsel you have offered us. My

colleagues and I will be happy to answer any questions you or the other

Subcommittee members may have.

18
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Mr. Spratt. Thank you very much.
In deference to the fact that Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky has to be

somewhere at 10:15, I am going to turn to her.

I will defer my own time and allow you to ask the questions you
have.
Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Thank you very much.
We heard that the number of nonfilers is more than 10 million.

What impact will the compliance initiative have on reducing this

alarming number? You started to give us some indication. Could
you continue?
Ms. Richardson. Yes. One of the initiatives that we began, I

guess over a year ago now but plan to continue, is to really focus

on our nonfiler population, which at the present time we estimate

to be about 7.5 million individual nonfilers and about 2.5 million

business nonfilers.

I think Mr. Dolan might like to address, in specific detail, what
we are hoping to do with this initiative.

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Could you tell us who the typical

nonfiler is? I mean, I know that there is not a typical nonfiler, but
there are certainly groups.
Mr. Dolan. Actually, our experience is that the typical nonfiler

has turned out to have a profile much more generic than we had
thought.

Frankly, we found a much larger percentage of the nonfiler popu-
lation to be people that, in the first instance, made what might
look like a fairly human decision in the face of some form of per-

sonal or business tragedy or crisis or some other reason, whether
it be a divorce, a failed business, or a death in the family. They
made that first judgment to either miss a filing date or had some
problem with an original due date.

Subsequently, it has snowballed. The first year, the person is

out. When it comes the second time to file or not file, some of the
reservations we learned about were their fear of what was going
to happen to them when they tried to reenter the system. Some
people felt that they faced sure criminal prosecution. Others felt

that they faced a kind of payment ultimatum from us that would
bankrupt them.
So what we have done is try to put a multifaceted approach to-

gether for that segment of the nonfiler population; people who,
through some relatively human set of circumstances, fell out in the
first instance. We've been very heavy on the education. We've been
very heavy on the invitation to come in, get our assistance in get-

ting your back returns. If it requires a payment agreement, we will

structure such a payment agreement. So we have done that.

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Any amnesty?
Mr. Dolan. I'm sorry.

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Any kind of amnesty?
Mr. Dolan. Not amnesty in any classic sense. In some of those

instances, penalties that might otherwise have applied have been
waived on the basis of whatever probable cause that the taxpayer
has given us that underlies their original nonfiling.

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. In that 10 million group, what is the

f>ercentage of those people who have just, through human prob-
ems, fallen through the cracks.
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Mr. Dolan. At this point, it would be tough for us to extrapolate
on the whole 10 million population. I would say that well over half
of the people who have come back in, either the folks that we have
identified as known nonfilers, people for whom we had some record
on file, and then there is another whole slice of people who had
dropped out of the system either so long ago or have never been
in. There are about 60,000 of those people who have come back in.

I would say well over half of the people that we have seen come
back into the system would meet, generally, the definition that I

described earlier as somebody whose personal circumstances fell

into that kind of category.
We do have, though, a middle category where we have spent

2,000 examination staff years, over the last 2 years, identifying
from our information sources and from other data those that look
like they are most likely the higher dollar, higher income folks who
have not come back in. And we have engaged them in a fairly clas-

sic examination encounter.
Then, on the other end of the spectrum, we have people who we

are pretty certain have plotted to be outside the system, and we
have engaged them in the full thrust of our criminal prosecution
efforts.

So we have attempted to go at the market in different ways, de-
pending upon the differences among our customers, and we are
finding that it has been a pretty successful endeavor.
Ms. Margolies-Mezvtnsky. It was my fault that you got off on

this tangent, but if you could explain what it would mean.
Mr. Dolan. On the actual revenue initiative?

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Yes.
Mr. Dolan. What we will do next year, as part of the $405 mil-

lion initiative is, continue a shift toward more business taxpayers.
The actual collection portion of the initiative calls for us, in the
first year, to yield about $320 million that would come from closing
42,000 delinquent cases, cases that to us are predictive of some-
body's requirement to file.

We also will probably bring in somewhere in excess of 55,000 ad-
ditional delinquent tax returns.

So that is the place that the collection initiative, as part of this

$405 million, is designed to hit—on nonfilers. We also are trying
very hard, with that collection piece, to hit the universe of accounts
receivable, those that are already in our queue, they are due and
owing, and for lack of resources, we are unable to get to today.
Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Of the 10 million, do you have any

estimates as to how many nonfilers will become filers under the
new plan?
Mr. Dolan. I wish we had a science that would give us that with

any precision. What we are finding is that a significant percentage
of the nonfilers are people who have refunds due. And we are find-

ing that there are also significant—when we look back at 3 or 4
years, we find some of those nonfilers are people who had a re-

quirement in 1 year but not in 2.

So it's very hard to generalize that, of the 10 million, we will get
X back and Y will stay in the system, although we are trying. We
now have a longitudinal study looking at the people who have come
back in the first 2 years of this program, making sure that those
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who should stay in do not drop out again. But it is hard to project

against the total 10 million universe.

Ms. Richardson. One other piece I think that it is important to

focus on, also, is the ability to match information documents more
currently. A number of our so-called known nonfllers are known to

us because we do have some information on them. So some piece
of our initiative will also be aimed at stepping up our document
matching efforts on the information returns piece.

Mr. Dolan. That's an excellent point. The Commissioner makes
note of the document matching. We project in the initiative that
we—actually, this year there were 34 million what we call

nonperfectea information documents that represent a huge chunk
of money. Now, an awful lot of that we know does ultimately get
reported, but inasmuch as they are unmatched at this point, that's

a significant opportunity for us to look for nonfilers.

Ms. Margolies-Mezvinsky. Thank you very much.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SPRATT. Thank you very much.
Mr. Cox.
Mr. Cox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The Office of Management and Budget has suggested that the

IRS pursue a pilot program, hiring a private collection agency in

order to enhance collection. Is that something that the Service is

moving on?
Ms. Richardson. I believe, in the fiscal year 1994 budget, there

was a request for funding for such an initiative. Given the fact that
we were unable to get all of the funding we needed for our Tax Sys-
tems Modernization and a number of other programs, we did not
have any money in our fiscal year 1994 budget to fund even a pilot

study.
I am very concerned. I think we are concerned about our ac-

counts receivable, and I think we need to look at a number of op-
tions. But at the present time we have no plans to contract out our
collection activities. I think it is a subject that really needs a lot

of careful review, given the sensitivities of collection issues.
Mr. Cox. Now, trie compliance initiative is aimed at collection, is

it not?
Ms. Richardson. It is, very definitely, but it is aimed at moving

into the areas where we know that we can effectively use our col-

lection resources and not a pilot project where the outcome might
be very uncertain and unpredictable.
Mr. Cox. The reason, of course, for a compliance initiative is that

the status quo is not tenable.
Ms. Richardson. That is correct.

Mr. Cox. We have our delinquent accounts increasing. We have
our collections declining at the same time, the obverse of the same
problem. It went from $62.5 billion in delinquent accounts in 1992
to $63.2 billion in 1993. And our collections dropped, during that
period, from $24.2 billion to $22.8 billion in the last year.
OMB, responding to this, suggested a pilot program, and what

IRS is doing is taking all of the savings, I take it, from your sys-
tems modernization, tne 3,612 full-time employee positions that we
saved or will save through the end of the current fiscal year, and
another perhaps 1,100 full-time employee positions for fiscal 1995,
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that adds up to 4,700 and some, pretty close to the 5,000 positions

that we are looking at putting into a compliance initiative.

That is sort of a self-funded initiative, as a result, paid for by the
positions that we eliminated through systems modernization.
Couldn't we use that source to have a pilot program, which is all

that OMB suggested, in collections, using a collection agency? Why
wait?
Ms. Richardson. We feel that, with the 5,000 additional FTE's

for the compliance initiative, we have specific areas where we could
make very effective use of those people to address specific compli-
ance problems.

I have talked to Mr. Tobias, and we would like to sit down and
work out a proposal to address the accounts receivable. We are

quite concerned about it. But I do not think, at the present time,

that we have sufficient evidence to give us any comfort that using
those resources in the private collection area would yield us nearly
as much benefit as using the resources that we
Mr. Cox. But isn't the purpose of a pilot program to provide you

with some empirical data? We are not talking about turning over
all collections to collection agencies, but, rather, basing a decision

whether to move in that direction on some authentic empirical data
rather than mere surmiser preference or the position of union lead-

ers.

Ms. Richardson. In the current year, we had our employees al-

ready trained and on board, and we felt we could make better use
of them rather than spending what few resources we had. We had
additional requirements in the motor fuel excise tax area and in

the earned income tax area and the refund fraud area that we felt

we needed to expend our resources on. So that's why we did noth-
ing—or that was one of the reasons we felt it was not wise to em-
bark on that pilot in 1994.

For 1995, most of that money, I think, is programmed in various
compliance initiatives.

Mr. Cox. You have three general categories for the compliance
initiative to pursue: The first is audits, basically focused exams; the
second is collections; and the third is more effective use of informa-
tion reporting documents.

I wonder if you could talk about the second, collections, and the
specific things that the compliance initiative intends to do in the
collections area.

Ms. Richardson. I think Mr. Dolan might address that. It really

is a followup to what he was talking about in the nonfiler strategy.

Mr. Dolan. Mr. Cox, we have looked at three principal ways in

which we think it would be prudent in spending the collection por-

tion of the initiative. The first is in accelerating the business delin-

quencies, and particularly the employment-related type delin-

quencies. That is right now, both in terms of the actual tax delin-

quent accounts, the amounts due and owing, as well as the quar-
ters for which there are delinquent returns to be filed, a significant

part of both the tax gap and we think an insidious part of the
pyramiding process.

If you cannot deal with a businessman or woman early in their

difficulties, and you wait for six or seven quarters, that's an insid-
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ious kind of problem that doesn't work for the government or the
individual. That's the first problem.
The second is a very substantial growth in our bankruptcy inven-

tories almost every place around the country. In working with U.S.
trustees, I think there are some concerns about the way that the
government is able to protect the government's interest in claims
in a massive bankruptcy work that is essentially sitting, a good
portion of it, in our docket.
The third piece is what we would call our field high-dollar inven-

tories. Today we have cases that are essentially in a queue, mean-
ing that we are not able to get them in the hands of a revenue offi-

cer that, by our last estimate, are somewhere in the neighborhood
of $2 billion worth of work. If we were able to put it into the hands
of our field revenue officers, if we had sufficient revenue officers to
work that work, that looks like collectible accounts receivable.
Those would be the three places that we would make the prin-

cipal thrust of the collection piece of the $405 million initiative.

Mr. Cox. Now, your field high-dollar inventories, therefore,
sound like nearly 10 percent of your existing collections. That is to
say, in 1993 we collected $2.8 billion if you have $2 billion that
you think is collectible in field high-dollar inventories, you would
bump up your collections by about 10 percent; is that right?
Mr. Dolan. I do not make the claim—I wish I could—I do not

make the claim that the piece of the $405 million initiative that we
can put in the field will get that $2 billion.

Mr. Cox. But that's what is out there, you think?
Mr. Dolan. The $2 billion is the most collectible of what is avail-

able to our field resources.
Mr. Cox. What is the technique that one follows in getting after

a case that might comprise part of the overall caseload of field

high-dollar inventories?
Mr. Dolan. Are you asking to focus on the field portion of that

or the whole cycle?

Mr. Cox. Well, actually, the field portion of it, the collection por-
tion.

Mr. Dolan. Essentially, what happens is, by the time a field

Mr. Cox. And with particular reference as to how the collection

initiative is going—or the compliance initiative is going to focus on
this problem.
Mr. Dolan. Well, can I back you up just a minute? Not to evade

the field part of it, but part of where we will spend some of the
resources particularly in the business accounts I talked about, is in
both our service centers and our automated call sites, because we
go through a process today that involves notices, telephone con-
tacts, before we actually put it in the hands of a field person.
We have found that the efficiencies and the effectiveness in both

the automated call sites and in the service center collection
branches are significant, if we can get them to work early enough
and get them to make the telephone contacts, which is an overall
part of our strategy to try to get maximum contact on the tele-

phone and try to get it resolved early. So some portion of our re-

source will go there.

But then this residue that I talked about as being the field com-
ponent. That is a case that has been worked through those steps,
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the person has typically gotten four notices, they typically have got-

ten a telephone call. Typically, we would have tried, had we known
about a place of employment or a place of banking, there would
have been, potentially, a lien and a levy or just a levy initiated

against a known source of funds.

And it is at the point that none of those efforts have resulted in

a full payment that the case will typically get in the hands of one

of our senior field people. That is the person who then attempts to

locate assets that otherwise have been unknown to us. That is the

person who makes the face-to-face contact. That is the person who
tries to work through a payment arrangement that will satisfy the

account.
Mr. Cox. So the totality of this, comprising what you do back in

the office and out in the field, is notices, telephone contacts, liens

and levies against bank accounts and other assets, personal visits,

meetings designed to negotiate payment arrangements. Isn't that

exactly what collection agencies do?
Mr. Dolan. Well, I guess, in one form or another, yes. There are

some very material differences.

Mr. Cox. Why is it that we believe that, therefore, we shouldn't

even undertake a pilot program to find out whether or not we could

augment our existing efforts more successfully. Because what we
have been seeing is that doing it the current way is yielding in-

creasing poor results.

Mr. Dolan. Can I strike a couple of predicates to your question?

One is, I think, in terms of increasingly yielding poor results, I

think some part of what is masked in the numbers you used, in

terms of total collections 1 year to the next, is an appreciable drop-

off in the first and second notices. That is when people voluntarily

pay upon just getting a computer-generated notice.

That is typically a function of the economy, much of it induced

by what happened, I think, last year, in terms of the withholding

tables and people who found themselves underwithheld, and, there-

fore, they became "balanced due" people at the end of the filing

seasons. So that is not a commentary on, as a matter of fact, the

field effectiveness and efficiency. The field revenue officers' results,

as measured in dollars collected per staff year expended, are up,

as part of that equation.
But to the second part of your comparison of our collection proc-

ess with a private one, there are a number of material ways in

which the Federal process of collecting taxes, I think, are different.

One is, there is an extraordinary obligation that we have with re-

spect to the confidentiality of tax information, that is not mirrored,

at least as I know, in almost any other private collection enter-

prise.

Second, there are a number of Federal faculties available to us,

as Federal tax collectors, in the liens and levies, various forms of

restraint, that are also not a part of the way that a private collec-

tion agency can do its business.

So I think that it is not direct analog to think in terms of the

two processes.

Ms. Richardson. I fully concur with what Mr. Dolan has said.

I think to be somewhat more responsive, Mr. Cox, we do need to

explore what possible options are available and where we can use
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some other resources that we have not used in the past. But I

think we really feel that we have people on board, we are making
some progress. There were some peculiar things about last year
with the withholding and that situation that may have distorted
those numbers that you have.

I think we would be remiss in not looking at other options or out-
side possibilities and data bases, but I am reluctant to use re-

sources that we think we can use more effectively in private collec-

tion efforts when we really do feel that we are in a position to

make a difference by using our own employees.
Mr. Cox. I will wrap up this line of questioning by saying that

it strikes me as recalcitrant to say that you're basing it on feelings.

You're not rebuffing Chris Cox; you're rebuffing the Clinton admin-
istration's OMB. They are the ones who have suggested this.

Ms. Richardson. We are working with them and talking to them
about what possible steps we should take, in terms of looking at
other alternatives. But in terms of our compliance initiative

Mr. Cox. But rather than basing it on feeling
Ms. Richardson. I beg your pardon.
Mr. Cox [continuing]. With all due respect, we ought to base it

on actual empirical data. What I'm hearing is that the IRS refuses
to conduct the experiment to find out, on the basis of real evidence,
whether this will work or not. And the highest priority, instead,
seems to be maintaining all the existing laoor force that possibly
we can.

We enter into the analysis, spending billions of dollars on TSM,
with the presumably labor-saving equipment, all to the end of
maintaining all of those positions or so many of them that we can
put 5,000 people into this compliance initiative, raising questions
about whether clerical personnel, the data entry people whose jobs
are being eliminated by this equipment, can be trained to do so-

phisticated audit work, or collections, and so on.
Then we are told we haven't any money at all to do a pilot pro-

gram, as OMB recommends, in using a collection agency. It strikes
me that there is an agenda rather than good management practice
seeking the best results based on real world, empirical evidence.
We are just trying to close our eyes to the evidence. We do not
want the experiment. We do not want to know what the result
would be. We feel that we can do it better without even testing
those waters.
Ms. Richardson. I hope you wouldn't leave with that impression,

because I do not think that it would be accurate.
We had choices for fiscal year 1994 that we had to make, and we

had specific compliance areas where we felt we needed to use our
resources, including, in the motor fuel excise tax area and the re-

fund fraud area, those areas are where we chose to use our re-

sources. Because the funding increase we got last year was basi-
cally needed to fund the geographic pay initiative, we virtually had
no increase in funding when all was said and done.
The other thing I also want to make sure that people on this sub-

committee understand is, although the initiative speaks to 5,000
additional FTE's, the base budget is a reduction of 3,000 over
where we are today. We currently have in our operating plan in ex-
cess of 112,000 FTE's. The base budget is in the neighborhood of



42

109,000. So we are talking, at most, about a net increase of 2,000
FTE's over where we are today, not 5,000 FTE's.
Mr. Cox. But an increase over where we are today is an anom-

aly, given that we are investing billions of dollars in equipment
that is obsoleting many positions.

Ms. Richardson. Well, it is, but we also have not reinvested
those positions in compliance-related activities. I think what we are
here to talk about today is the fact that, with the reinvestment of
those people in compliance-related activities, we could make a sig-

nificant difference in compliance levels in this country.
I think Mr. Mader, who is our Chief, Management and Adminis-

tration, wanted to touch on one point for you also.

Mr. Mader. Mr. Cox, you mentioned converting clerical employ-
ees to compliance type of employees. Over the past 4 years, the
Service has been successful in converting over 4,000 people in cleri-

cal types of activities into tax examiner activities, which are the be-
ginning of compliance.
Mr. Dolan mentioned the kind of work that exists within the

$405 million initiative. It is that very kind of work that these tax
examiners are trained to do. And, as the Commissioner testified,

these are people who are here now. We do not need to reinvest ad-
ditional training; they are ready to do the job now.
So we have a track record of being able to convert people from

a clerical type of operation into tax examiners and putting them
online and being productive. The compliance initiative just builds
on that over the next several years.
Mr. Cox. Yet, if the measure of our success is productivity, what

we are seeing is an increase in delinquent accounts and a decrease
in collections. I agree with you that you have been successful, if the
measure is, people are now employed in one function and they used
to be employed in another. But judging by productivity, at least

overall, while we can explain it on the basis of the baa economy,
or what have you, we can't show that we actually improved our col-

lections, can we?
Mr. Mader. I would have to defer that to Mr. Dolan.
Mr. Dolan. I think, again, we come back to the point of, if the

collections number we focus on is the total collections, no. But if

you want to break it down into the parts where the IRS personnel
are brought to bear against the underlying delinquency, the answer
is yes. That efficiency, that effectiveness tracks upward, not down-
ward.
Mr. Cox. While I am ranking member here, I feel that the chair-

man has been more than generous in time, and I do not want to

take it all up.
Mr. Spratt. Go ahead and complete your questions. That's quite

all right.

Mr. Cox. I will say, on a totally different topic, that I think an
$8 fee for direct deposit confirmation is probably sufficiently small
that nobody is going to start a revolution based upon it in the near
term. I am concerned about the trend, however, because the notion
of the IRS charging user fees is a difficult one to come to grips
with.

People really haven't any election whether to use the Service as
opposed to some other tax agency to whom they might pay their
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taxes. We are, after all, trying to encourage people to use electronic

filing. It is precisely that population that is targeted with this fee

for confirmation that there will be a direct deposit.

As I say, I think the amount is small enough, and it may be that

we could justify it on the four corners because of the manner in

which the refund anticipation loans are made or abused, but the

concept of IRS user fees, because we are coming up with other

ones, for photocopying, and so on, strikes me as a dangerous one.

These are costs that will just be added on to the amount of tax

owed and, in essence, will increase the burden of tax compliance.

Ms. Richardson. Mr. Cox, on that specific fee, we certainly are

well aware and very concerned about the whole issue of fees. As
I have often said, unlike Yosemite, some people do not want to use

our services, so they may not be willing to pay for some of them.

But we have attempted to select fees that would apply to special

or unique services that would be provided, and that $8 fee is not

applicable to everyone who is filing electronically.

In fact, we assiduously sought to avoid anything that would
cause anyone not to be willing to file electronically. It is a fee that

would be paid in those situations where a bank would be making
a refund anticipation loan, and it is for that direct deposit indica-

tor, which in effect indicates that there is no Federal debt due, so

that the bank would go ahead and make a refund anticipation loan.

It is clearly not applicable to everyone who files electronically, only

those who might deal with a bank and a refund anticipation loan.

Mr. Cox. It is a subset of that population?
Ms. Richardson. Very much a subset; right, and not intended to

discourage
Mr. Cox. 10.9 million such returns in 1993.

Ms. Richardson. That is correct. But we are very anxious to

broaden the population of people who file electronically and move
well beyond those who are relying on the refund anticipation loans.

Mr. Cox. I appreciate that response, and I am certainly aware
of the specifics of this particular fee. I express only a generalized

concern that we are starting something here that we may not want
to get into, which is all manner of fees for dealing with the IRS.

In theory, when somebody at the Service is working on your re-

turn, you could be charged a user fee for that. But I hope that the

appropriations that Congress makes for the IRS would be sufficient

to cover all the associated costs, whether they be photocopying, put-

ting the document in the file, or what have you, so that we can

have a more user-friendly bureau that people will voluntarily pay
their taxes to. That's the essence of the system.

I yield back. I thank you.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you very much, Mr. Cox.

Mr. Horn.
Mr. Horn. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I congratulate you, Commissioner. You have one of the toughest

jobs in any administration, and I think you have made a very thor-

ough statement. I wish you well. I'm sure, as the chairman has
said, this committee will certainly be willing to help you on your
needs for modernization.
Ms. Richardson. Thank you.



44

Mr. Horn. Let me ask you a few questions, however, based on
the testimony and based on some of my concerns.
Nothing infuriates me more than cases of noncompliance, and

they occur at all levels of our income stream. One of the things that
concerns me is what kind of strategy can you develop that will

have the greatest payoff, because, as you note, and it's really quite
astounding, your range that for every 1 percent more of compliance
we will have $7 billion to $10 billion in tax collection.

There's approximately 17-percent noncompliance in this country.
Obviously, if you take either your low figure or your high figure,
that would more than half the annual deficit that we have right
now, that all agencies are struggling to cope with. And we'll get to
more of that later.

But what is your strategy as to how you target the various in-
come groups in society to get the greater payoff? Obviously, certain
people pay less taxes, but in the aggregate they pay more taxes,
we know, than a lot of the people who have the high incomes and
are avoiding taxes. I want to get everybody, frankly. So what is

your strategy?
Ms. Richardson. I think you have very well touched on what the

concerns are, and I think we need to have a balanced approach.
What we have been able to do—and I will let Mr. Dolan get into
more detail—thanks to what Tax Systems Modernization capabili-
ties we have today, we have been able to do much more sophisti-
cated research than we have in the past, and we will continue to

do more of that in the future.

Merely because you have high-income individuals does not make
them noncompliant, and we are well aware of that. So what we are
trying to do is trying to focus on specific areas of noncompliance
through our research and through our experience, and then focus
on those particular groups for stepped-up education efforts. We do
believe that our compliance efforts begin with our taxpayer service
and taxpayer education. We want to make certain people know
what their obligations are.

There are those, upon being educated, who may still decide not
to comply, and for those we do want to be able to pursue our en-
forcement techniques. Enforcement resources are clearly our most
expensive, so we want to try to focus them in the areas where we
have the highest levels of noncompliance.
Mr. Horn. What are those areas? Can you isolate them, in terms

of, say, the $200,000 and above, the $100,000 to $200,000, the
$70,000 to $100,000, and so forth, the below $40,000, whatever?
Ms. Richardson. As I said, I do not think it really focuses on

specific income or even asset groups. It does tend to focus more in

certain kinds of areas—where clearly, we have withholding infor-

mation reporting, we have extremely high areas of compliance. A
wage earner who has only wages that are withheld on and are re-

ported on a W-2—I think the compliance levels are in the high 90
percent. Where there is no information reporting, no withholding,
our compliance levels can drop dramatically.
Mr. Dolan. Mr. Horn, as the Commissioner said, one of the

things that Tax Systems Modernization is already beginning to do
for us is to give us access to information we have never had before.
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Typically, in the past, we set our agenda, particularly in the ex-

amination and in the audit arena, by doing essentially intensive

audits of a subset of the population. And then we did audits, based
on what are called the TCMP, or the taxpayer compliance measure-
ment program. You might do a sample of somewhere in the neigh-

borhood of 50,000 of those audits and then try to extrapolate. Typi-

cally, we did try to extrapolate across asset or dollar class, and that

is a huge extrapolation to try to move from that to cover as many
as 200 million filed returns.

What we now have available to us is a relatively small percent-

age of the return information, because it's all manually entered.

With the 14 million electronically filed returns this year, all that

data is available to us.

So what you have now is the ability to begin to stratify and look

below the sort of obvious level of dollar income and be able to look

in the same business, somebody filing as a small corporation on an
1120, somebody else filing with a schedule C. In the past, we have
never been able to examine the phenomena in that business or the

phenomena in that market. Our strategy, if there is an overarching
one today, is to be able to differentiate at that level.

What we do know, as the Commissioner has said, is there are

some parts of our customer base where there is a heavy reliance

on information, both as to income and as to deductions, where you
can basically manage those relationships through a matching proc-

ess.

But then there is a big part of our customer base, and character-

istically it's somebody who is maybe a sole proprietor, probably fil-

ing an 1120S or a schedule C, where a high percentage of his or

her or the enterprise's income is not accompanied by any kind of

a matching instrument. That is where, as a percent of what we
have to go after, is the most nettlesome.
What we have found very successful is to actually make our

audit guides available to different industry groups. And we will tell

the people who are in the business of running gasoline stations, or

small convenience stores, or any number of small enterprises, this

is the way we examine your returns; these are the issues we are

looking for; and these are the kinds of points of reference that we
are looking at, in terms of income and expenses.
That education and outreach attempts to work within industry

groups and has put us in a different world. Always, in the past, we
tried to do it case by case, after the fact, and that is a very labor-

intensive, very retail-based approach that I do not think would get

us to the kind of progress that Mr. Cox was talking about.

Ms. Richardson. We have spent quite a bit of time over the past
year, and will continue to do that in the coming year, sitting down
with representatives of industry groups and, as Mr. Dolan said,

talking to them about what the issues are and what our concerns
are, what we are finding in audits, and working out, audit guide-

lines so that we are not doing something that is onerous to that
industry and that they do understand what the practices in that
particular industry are.

A lot of it has been an educational experience for us, as well. In

the past, I think we have approached every single audit of a busi-

ness in much the same way, and most businessmen would know
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that you would not audit a bank in exactly the same way you
might audit a grocery chain or some other kind of organization. So
we are getting much more sophisticated about learning and under-
standing the industries that we are auditing.

Mr. Horn. Let me move to another case. We see a lot of celebrity

cases, and this one is the recent case in CIA, where you have a per-

son alleged to have been an agent for the Soviet Union, who has
been alleged to have paid, in cash, a half million dollars for a
house. Now, banks, when you deposit over $10,000 in cash, a state-

ment is required to be filed. Should we have a $10,000 or more
cash statement in a real estate transaction also filed, so we can
check people with sudden cash?

I mean, I find it unbelievable CIA didn't have its own internal

processes to look at this, but what about it on a national standard?
If somebody is dumping a half million in cash, I think some anten-

nae ought to go up somewhere.
Ms. Richardson. Well, not to speak to the specifics of that case,

because it is before the grand jury, but any cash payment to a real

estate company would, in fact, be reportable. So the reporting is be-

yond just payments to banks.
Mr. Horn. OK Who would get that particular filing?

Mr. Dolan. Actually, what we could do, if you are interested, Mr.
Horn, is give you a more detailed description, but there are either

the currency transaction report or an 8300, depending upon wheth-
er it's a purchase of a service or if it's a bank transaction being
made. Those all go to a central computer that we have in Detroit

where we maintain a data base, some of which is confined to the

use of the Internal Revenue Service because it is tax information,

others, in the area of money laundering violations, are available

more broadly to law enforcement.
That is a very key source of information for us as we are trying

to identify both civil and criminal abuses, and it is also used by a
variety of other law enforcement agencies. Of course, there is a
whole stream of efforts made to thwart that requirement. People

structure transactions so as to be below the threshold and do a va-

riety of things designed to obfuscate that filter.

But that has been a fairly significant arrow in our quiver, with

respect to looking at money laundering and tax evasion cases.

Mr. Horn. Did we happen to know about this particular case?

Mr. Dolan. I think those are issues that we probably ought not

to address in this forum, Mr. Horn.
Mr. Horn. Will they be addressed somewhere?
Mr. Dolan. I can only assume they will be.

Mr. Horn. OK Because I really think, if that case got by the net

somehow, we need to get a lot of answers on it to find out how
come. Is it just filing this stuff somewhere and, unless somebody
has a tip, nobody can be responsive, or is there an aggressive re-

view? In the case of that government agency, I would think, as in

a case of yours, you ought to run the employee tapes against the

tapes that show where the cash came from and see if there's a
match anywhere.
Mr. Dolan. We do have a very aggressive program in that arena.

I think, again, I probably do not do that program service by my
quick answers, but we would certainly be happy to give you a fuller
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understanding of how it works. Also, I think you would be im-

pressed with the number of cases that do generate from systematic
examination of that data.

Mr. Horn. OK We'll let that one go at that. Let me move to the

underground economy, another thing that has long upset me.
What is our estimate of the underground economy that goes on

in this country, and what, if anything, are we doing to try and get

at that economy that pays not a dime of taxes except sales tax, pos-

sibly?

Mr. Dolan. Well, where we have the confidence they are paying
sales tax, that is at least a lead for us. Quite frankly, that is a big

part of this. I broke down some of those—I said earlier, some of the

characteristics of the less compliant folks were in businesses that

did not have their income or their expenses or deductions matched
by paper.
There is a subset of that that is euphemistically called the infor-

mal or, in your words, the underground economy. Probably the

most effective technique we have found to date is our collaboration

with States where we can, in fact, use the matching of our informa-
tion and the State's information.

Typically—and the State of California is one where we have had
a huge amount of success because of the work done within that

State administration to enforce the sales tax—what we look for is

crossmatches and look for aberrations between the Federal and the
State taxing authorities to make sure that the people who belong
on both sides of the rolls are there.

That, so far, has been the most productive, systematic way of

doing it. Then the rest of it requires the hard work of street-level

investigation.
Mr. Horn. If we got a profile of the typical industries that are

more likely to be in an underground economy—in the case of south-

ern California, we look around at people who are doing roofing,

doing gardening, et cetera, a lot of that is with very low-skilled,

perhaps illegal labor. What do you find?

Mr. Dolan. We have attempted, as I mentioned earlier, to break
that down into industry groups. We have, for example, considered

the construction industry, and subsets of that industry. You have
a variety of industries that would probably be clear to many of us
in this room, people who do the kinds of business that typically re-

quests payments in cash.

Without trying to target a particular subset of that, suffice to say
there is a very substantial slice of commerce that is going on in

that kind of cash-based environment, and it does not isolate to one
or two occupations or one or two industries.

Mr. Horn. Let me move to student loans and any type of govern-

ment loan that is owed the government. I remember a former uni-

versity president who walked these halls to get student aid, how
a case on 60 Minutes of a U.C. Berkeley graduate in dentistry who
took great pride in not paying back his $60,000 set us back around
here for years.

What are we doing to assure some compliance of those loans
made by the government being effectively recouped? Is IRS rec-

ommending anything to Congress in the areas where we do not
have compliance, in terms of collection through your mechanism?
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Ms. Richardson. Mr. Dolan might tell you what we are doing

right now.
Then, also, with the expansion of the student loan program last

year, we may have an even more active involvement, along with

the Treasury Department and with the Department of Education.

We were asked to report to Congress on what the feasibility was
of having the Internal Revenue Service involved in all phases of

the collection process of that student loan program. We are cur-

rently and very actively working on that study.

We do have current capabilities to offset debt that is owed to the

Federal Government, particularly in the student loan area. If a tax-

payer had a refund due, we would offset the loan balance against

that refund. But if that person did not have a refund or had a bal-

ance due, we would not be in a position to do anything, currently.

In other words, we have no active collection efforts. Our role today

is limited to offsets.

Mr. Horn. Well, are you planning to recommend a more active

program, and do you need legislation to do it? One of our problems

in the past has been, when I've discussed this with members of the

Postsecondary Education Committee years ago, is, they do not

want to lose jurisdiction to the House Ways and Means Committee
because of your collection.

I realize we have a lot of turf problems around this place, but
I would hope an agreement could be worked out that the policy is

still set by the Committee on Education and Labor and we get the

cooperation of Ways and Means for the authorization to have you
do the collecting.

Ms. Richardson. I think it is not really confined just to the stu-

dent loan area. I think there is an active discussion underway, cer-

tainly in the Treasury Department and other departments, about

the whole question of Federal debt collection and how it should be

handled, which agency can best do it, whether or not, as you sug-

gested, perhaps the substantive department should set the guide-

lines but have a debt collection body, agency, or something like

that.

Mr. Horn. What is our estimate of uncollected debts due to any

type of Federal loan?
Ms. Richardson. I think we would have to get that information

for you. I do not know. In the student loan area, obviously, the De-

partment of Education has that information.

Mr. Horn. Could we get that and file it for the record, Mr. Chair-

man?
Ms. Richardson. Yes, we certainly could.

Mr. SPRATT. Certainly.

Ms. Richardson. We may have to rely on other departments to

get that for you, but we will certainly try.

Mr. Horn. I'd just like to know, are we talking $100 billion that

is out there that should have been collected and hasn't been col-

lected?

Ms. Richardson. I would be reluctant to speculate. I do not

know. I do recall, in looking at some of the education figures, the

amounts were much lower than I think people had been discussing

at one time.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Defense
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$3,746

$25,378

$8,625

$29,520

$15,249

$318
$1,667

$715
$278,681

$17,286

$1,604

$1,745

$1,014

$2,066

$537
$1,107

$6,000

$448

$2,471
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$750
$354

3,713,320 $14,962,686,732 $4,029

Source: Asset Management Goup, Financial Management Service

* Represents referrals tor cross-serviced agencies

Tax Refund Offset Program Collections

Calendar
Year

1993
Jan-May 1994

Number of
Accounts

1,758,162
1,864,350

Amount
Collected

$1.19 Billion
$1.3 Billion
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Mr. Horn. Moving to another question, which has to do with
identification numbers, employer identification numbers. I was de-

lighted to see the President advocated a counterfeit-proof Social Se-

curity card. When I was vice chairman of the U.S. Commission on
Civil Rights, I advocated it in 1980, and I have been frustrated

that presidents, regardless of party, seem to have done nothing
about it until now, and I hope this president does something about
it.

As I understand it, we have millions of dollars being defrauded,

not only from IRS, but from medical insurance companies. Another
subcommittee of the Committee on Government Operations has in-

vestigated Medicare/Medicaid fraud. And it's partly because IRS is-

sues multiple employer identification numbers to doctors and phar-

macists who apply for them under different names.
Now, what is the policy of IRS in this regard? Is there a way to

get at this abuse? Is there cooperation with the Social Security Ad-
ministration on agreeing on a number which might well be the So-

cial Security number? What's happening?
Mr. Dolan. Obviously, our policy is not to issue somebody who

changes names on us multiple employer identification numbers.
Some of that does happen.
One of the places, I think, where we are going to be well served,

again, by Tax Systems Modernization is by—right now, when you
are issued an employer identification number, that carries with it

some predictive characteristics, as far as we are concerned, in

terms of what business you said you were going to be in, that ought
to predict whether you are going to have employees or not, what
are your employment filing requirements or other kinds of returns.

Given an environment in which we can make an accelerated con-

tact, meaning the first quarter after the request for the employer
identification number, we ought to be able to ferret out much more
rapidly, than we can today, where it might be three, four, or seven
quarters later before a contact is made. That's one of our principal

ways of dealing with people who are trying to beat the system.

On the Social Security side, we have had very active discussion

with the Social Security Administration on trying to align the way
we manage the employer identification number process with the

way they manage. Quite frankly, we probably have as much reli-

ance on the Social Security numbering system as does Social Secu-

rity. We are in an almost constant dialog with Social Security

about how our two systems interact and how we can improve each
other's capabilities.

Mr. Horn. Is there a problem in terms of the interaction due to

their lack of modernization?
Mr. Dolan. No, I do not want to speak for their needs or lack

of possession of modernization. I would say that we have found
them a very active partner on the issue, particularly as we have
attempted to deal with the issues of fraud, as it pertains to our two
agencies. So they have been very aggressive and very active part-

ners.
Mr. Horn. Two last questions, Mr. Chairman. The last one will

be on modernization. I can't help but mention charitable donations,

since a number of people in the arts and cultural areas have ex-

pressed concern. I guess the issue made the headlines not too long
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ago when the President and Mrs. Clinton gave various donations
of suits, socks, and so forth, to charitable organizations.
How do we deal with that? Is there a limit IRS has on the value

one can claim for a specific item, like a suit or a shirt? I realize,

if it's Marilyn Monroe's suit or shirt, or Mae West, or maybe the
White House, that's far different from some local person just get-

ting rid of what's in the closet. But how do you figure that? Is there
a value added for celebrities?

Ms. Richardson. Taxpayers are entitled to a deduction for the
fair market value of the property that they give to the charity. Peo-
ple sometimes have items appraised and submit an appraisal slip

with the donation. But it is typically the fair market value that is

deductible. As you know, fair market value is really determined by
what a willing buyer will pay and a willing seller will sell for.

There is no one mechanism for making that determination. It de-
pends on all the facts and circumstances. But we have certainly no
limits on specific items.
Mr. Horn. There is no question that a type of charity action sup-

ports a substantial amount of American culture, American vol-

untary organizations, be it the cancer fund or the heart fund, or
whatever. I just wondered what the IRS reaction is to that. Is there
any special targeting one way or the other?
Ms. Richardson. Well, there were some new reporting require-

ments that came in OBRA 1993 that required of charities if you do-
nate property in excess of $250, the charity will actually have to

five a statement to the contributor as to the valuation. So the rules
ave changed a bit for this year.
But, by and large, it is up to the taxpayer to determine what the

fair market value is, and if we audited the taxpayer, we would take
a look and make a decision whether we agreed with the valuation
or not.

We have, also, an art advisory panel that, for donations of art
works and things, frequently gets involved in valuations, too.

Mr. Horn. Last question: Control agencies, in this case OMB,
possibly GSA, often expect quite a bit of pints of personnel blood
when an agency undergoes modernization, feeling there has to be
a tradeoff in savings or positions, if we modernize, et cetera.
What kind of pressure are you under from the Federal control

agencies because of this modernization effort? Do they expect you
to cut your full-time employment equivalents by so many thousand,
or is there a phasing of it that makes realistic sense? What kind
of a gun are you under here?
Ms. Richardson. I think the fiscal year 1995 budget, and par-

ticularly with our compliance initiative, indicates that we do expect
to have some productivity savings. But we are also—and I think
this administration has realized that stripping the IRS in order to

realize a productivity savings and not invest in compliance is not
a wise business decision. So I think the 1995 budget really does us
a great service, and if we are able to get our request, I think we
would be in good shape to start really working even more diligently
on the compliance concerns.

I think each and every one of us is cognizant that these are dif-

ficult times, there is a lot of competition for Federal budget dollars,
and that you, as an oversight committee, and our Appropriations
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Committee have a right to expect that we will account for our re-

sources and use them wisely.

So I do not think, merely because we are the Internal Revenue
Service, we should be entitled to all the budget support we ask for.

On the other hand, I think we do have an unprecedented oppor-

tunity to make a difference in compliance. I do think that we can

take our productivity savings and reinvest it with many of the peo-

ple who are on board. Our personnel are already trained, at least

in large part, to do some of the things, or can be easily retrained

to do some of the things that need to be done.

I think that one of the reasons that the compliance problem has
not really been addressed as well as it might have been in the last

few years is, we have not had the stability of funding that we have
needed to do some of the things we wanted to do. The last real

compliance initiative that we had and had funded was in fiscal

year 1991. Since that time, we have actually reduced our staffing

over 3,000 FTE's, actually a little bit more than that. Just in our
compliance staff, we have reduced over 3,000 FTE's.

So our fiscal year 1995 budget is really an attempt to get us back
on track and try to do something that is not just totally productiv-

ity driven. Productivity is clearly important, and we have to con-

tinue finding ways to do our business more efficiently, but I think

we can do something with those people that can make a serious

and important difference for the American taxpayer.

Mr. Horn. What did you ask the Attorney General for, or were
you here when that decision was made for the budget for fiscal

1995 that is before the Congress now? What employee level did you
ask for, compared to what did the Attorney General recommend,
compared to what did the President or OMB give you?
Ms. Richardson. I'm sorry. The Secretary of the Treasury?
Mr. Horn. I am sorry. The Secretary of the Treasury.

Ms. Richardson. I guess our base budget is currently about

112,000 FTE's in our operating plan. The Dase budget for fiscal

year 1995 is around 109,000. With the additional compliance initia-

tive of about 5,000 FTE's, we would be about 2,000 FTE's ahead
of where we are today. So we would be at 114,000 plus, whereas
today we are at about 112,400 something.
Mr. Horn. Did you ask for that, and did you get that?

Ms. Richardson. Yes.

Mr. Horn. Before I said the Attorney General. The reason I said

it is, in my mind it is the cuts that have occurred in INS, the Im-

migration and Naturalization Service, which I have grave concerns

about. And I wondered if, in your agency, Treasury, you have been
treated similarly.

Ms. Richardson. No. Indeed, I think we have been very well

supported. Secretary Bentsen has been a very staunch supporter of

ours. In fact, I think he is testifying before the House Appropria-

tions Committee today in support of our budget requests. We were
not able, within the budget caps that were allocated, to fund all of

our initiatives. But if we get the compliance initiative that we are

asking for, we would actually be ahead of where we are today—and
significantly ahead.
The other important thing to remember, which makes a signifi-

cant difference in the way we are able to run our business, is that
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this is the first time we have had a fully funded labor base since
1991. Every other year we have come in with an unfunded labor
base, which has meant, although it appeared that we were getting
a certain FTE level, we were really not able to fund it. So we have
taken significant cuts and have never been able to make good on
our desires to have compliance initiatives.

So this is the first time in several years that we have a fully

funded budget, and truly there is no smoke and mirrors here. What
we have asked for is what we can use, and it is fully funded.
Mr. Horn. I would like, Mr. Chairman, if the Commissioner

could file at this point, for the record, a fuller statement on where
those losses occurred since 1991 and where you weren't able to

carry out certain things you felt were essential to tax collection.

[The information referred to follows:]



54

Due to differences with OMB on IRS labor costs*
congressional budget cuts* and legislation approved after the
budget cycle i we have been unable to fully fund a number of
important compliance initiatives over the past few years. For
example:

In FY 1992* $90 million in unfunded labor costs had to be
accommodated in that year's budget

In FY 1993* we had a $210 million shortfall. We solved
it by redirecting $130 million in support resources to labor
costs and reducing FTEs by 2000 to handle the balance of the
shortfall

.

In FY 1994 after negotiating with OMB we were able to add
$40 million to unfunded labor/ but that still left us with 1600
FTE's not realized.

In FY 1995* all labor costs are funded within the base
and we will not have to redirect resources unless Congress
approves pay increases beyond what is budgeted.
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Mr. Horn. Because, apparently, you are saying that, even with
the budget caps now, you have the flexibility to move personnel
around through retraining that you will gain under the moderniza-
tion program, some personnel slots, can you move them into the
areas where you feel you have been shortchanged over the last few
years?
Ms. Richardson. If we are able to get the full funding for the

compliance initiative, the answer to that question is most definitely

yes.

Mr. Horn. Well, since I agree with Mr. Justice Holmes that
taxes are the price we pay for civilization, I hope you get the full

funding.
Ms. Richardson. We would like to stay civilized, I assure you.
Mr. Spratt. Thank you, Mr. Horn.
There are several indicators of whether we have an effective, effi-

cient tax collection system. One of them is the so-called tax gap,
and while this is a somewhat conjectural number, I've seen num-
bers that are almost over the lot. The NTEU uses $120 billion as
its estimate of the gap. I've seen $180 billion. Does the Service
have an official estimate of the tax gap, the difference between
taxes that ought to be paid and taxes that are actually filed and
acknowledged?
Ms. Richardson. I think the answer to that is that our $7 billion

to $10 billion estimate of what each percentage in the compliance
level could yield is based on the gross amount of $150 to $170 bil-

lion.

Mr. Spratt. Seventeen percent, so that's 17 percent of what base
amount?
Ms. Richardson. What we anticipate is probably a gross number

of around $150 to $170 billion. I would not be telling you the truth
if I told you I thought that you could measure any of it with com-
plete precision. We, through our compliance efforts, are able to col-

lect almost $40 billion of that annually. So we are really some-
where in the $110 to $130 billion range, is our net tax gap. I would
say an excess of $110 billion, as you and your subcommittee have
indicated, is probably as accurate as we can be.

Mr. Spratt. So the tax gap is around $170 billion with allowance
for

Ms. Richardson. As I say, that's a gross number. I think your
$110 billion is probably just as accurate.
Mr. Spratt. $110 billion would be after collection efforts.

Ms. Richardson. Yes.
Mr. Spratt. What is the number of your receivables today, num-

ber of accounts, not the dollar value but the actual number of ac-

counts? And what has been the experience with the number of re-

ceivable accounts over the last 5 years?
Mr. Dolan. I could have answered the question before you clari-

fied it. Can I get you that for the record?
Mr. Spratt. Sure. It would be nice to measure it against the fis-

cal year 1991 baseline, just to see what has happened since those
initiatives were taken.

Ms. Richardson. We can track the fiscal year 1991 compliance
initiative through this year and tell you how much it has yielded
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and how much we anticipated. And we can do that with a great
deal of precision.

Mr. Spratt. Just by itself, what's the number of receivable ac-
counts today?
Mr. Dolan. Can I supply that?
[The information referred to follows:]
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These figures represent the total accounts receivable inventory, including both

current and noncurrent (i.e., the noncurrent portion of estate installment

agreements) as reported on the Service's REPORT ON ACCOUNTS AND LOANS
RECEIVABLE DUE FROM THE PUBLIC as of September 30 each year:

1989 12,636,764

1990 12,867,641

1991 14,281,502

1992 15,096,320

1993 17,249,480

1994 (1st qtr, as of 12/31/93) 16,801,949
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Mr. Spratt. Certainly. How about nonfilers? There's a number
here that is used by senior counsel, Richard Peterson, 10 million.

And the GAO says that in 1993 alone, since we changed the with-
holding tables, we found that a lot of people file tax returns not to

pay taxes but to get refunds.
With the withholding tables changed and refunds diminishing, as

many as 2 million taxpayers fewer than last year have filed returns
in the current year. Is this correct?

Ms. Richardson. It is. We have 2 million fewer filers than last

year, the 1992 tax year.

Mr. Spratt. Is that a cause of concern, or do you figure that
most of these people do not owe any taxes?
Ms. Richardson. What we are doing is really attempting to ana-

lyze exactly what that 2 million represents, but it is obviously a
cause for concern. Some people did not need to file returns, and I

think that several years ago a concerted effort was made to notify

people who, for whatever reason, did not need to file returns that
they did not need to do so.

I think some of that 2 million clearly relates to that. Another
portion of it I think we feel very confident relates to the fact that
people discovered, probably closer to April 15 last year, that they
had a balance due and perhaps did not have the money and were
concerned about filing. We made a significant effort to try to let

people know that they could file, that they did not have to pay in

full, they could, in effect, apply for an installment agreement and
automatically go on it, in some situations, and we tried to make
that process quite easy.

But we were still about 2 million returns short. As we get more
information about what really caused it or what that 2 million is

comprised of, we will be happy to share it with this committee.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Cumulative return receipts, which were down by about 2 million
from last year as of February 25, 1994, were only about one
million below last year's level as of April 1, 1994. The gap
continued to narrow throughout the rest of the filing period, and
we ended up with a growth of 609,000 returns over last year (As
of June 3, 1994)

.

We have asked the Service's Research Division to explore reasons
for the change in filing patterns from 1992 to 1993 and to review
the original projections for the volume of returns to be filed
this year. At this point, there appears to be three factors that
played a role in the decline.

First, tax year 1992 saw an unprecedented drop in interest rates
(and interest income) from prior years, which may have pushed
some filers below the filing reguirement threshold. Interest
rates held steady at these lower rates during 1993, leaving
little opportunity for growth in interest income. The absence of
this growth in 1993 may also have kept some taxpayers from
reaching the income threshold at which they would be required to
file.

Secondly, this year the Service sent about 1.4 million notices to
taxpayers who filed returns, but had no need to do so. This is
about 4 00,000 more notices than were sent out last year, and the
resulting reduction in the number of unnecessary filings should
have a moderating effect on growth in overall returns filed.

Finally, we continued to see a residual effect of late filing in
Tax Year 1993 from the change in withholding rates that occurred
during 1992. Tax year 1993 reflects the first full year under
the lowered withholding rates. In Tax Year 1992, these rates
were only in effect after March 1, or later, if the employer was
late in switching over to them.
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Mr. Spratt. Well, it would be interesting to know that, but that
would be an indicator, you would agree, of efficiency and effective-

ness of the tax system, getting everyone who is supposed to file a
return to actually file one.

Ms. Richardson. Absolutely. And our goal is to assure that ev-
eryone, who is obligated to file, files, and not only that, that every-
body pays his or her proper share of their taxes. And I think we
want to underscore "proper." We do not want any more than we are
entitled to, but we certainly want to collect wnat we are entitled
to.

I hear from many, many taxpayers who laud our efforts to focus
on compliance, because I thins they are very concerned, as Mr.
Horn suggested, that somehow they are being put at a competitive
disadvantage, if they are in business. They are paying their proper
share of taxes, and they are being put at a competitive disadvan-
tage by their neighbors or their competitors who are not paying
their proper share.
So we view this as a very serious issue and one that we are try-

ing to address in a number of different ways.
Mr. Spratt. Is 10 million a good number or an approximation of

how many Americans aren't filing tax return who ought to be filing

returns?
Mr. Dolan. It is, as far as our compliance research has taken us

to date.
Mr. Spratt. And that's out of a total population of how many

taxpayers who file returns?
Mr. DOLAN. Well, it's out of a base of roughly 200 million filings.

I can break it down for you, with more specificity on both the busi-
ness and the individual side, and maybe put the 10 million in that
context, if you would like.

Ms. Richardson. The 10 million is comprised of both business
and individuals.
Mr. Spratt. Right. So you have some multiple taxpayers.
Ms. Richardson. Yes. We could give you some more specific in-

formation.
[The information referred to follows:]

The general number of 10 million nonfilers can be broken out as 7.5 million indi-

vidual and 2.5 million business nonfilers.

Mr. Spratt. What about in the area of document matching? I

know that has been an elusive goal of the Service. You've found it

not as easy as one would think, just thinking about how it should
be done. Do you think you're getting any better at crossmatching
documents and detecting unreported income or underreported in-

come by using Form 1099?
Ms. Richardson. I think one of the things—and Mr. Westfall can

speak to this more specifically—the Tax Systems Modernization is

going to do for us, and actually has been doing for us, is to allow
us to match much more currently and give us the opportunity to

get to people much sooner.
Mr. Spratt. Well, that was my next question. Is the hardware

and software you are about to bring online going to enhance your
ability to do crossmatching?
Ms. Richardson. Most definitely.

Larry, you might talk a little bit about that.
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Mr. Westfall. Mr. Chairman, I think I can help with that. We
have an automated underreported system that we have already put
in place. We have implemented it in four locations, and we have
two other locations that will be implemented within the next 2 to

3 months. That system basically automates the previously manual
process of our doing a match and then communicating with tax-

payers relative to discrepancies on their return.

The automated underreporter system has proven to be invalu-

able, in terms of reducing the errors in the system, enabling us to

communicate with taxpayers earlier relative to match discrep-

ancies, and also just to improve the quality of what we are doing.

Our old system was very, very paper burdensome, difficult to work
with, and paper makes for mistakes.

So, in the short term, TSM has helped us a lot. It has also

brought about a 10-percent productivity improvement to that oper-

ation because of the computer assistance that it gives to the exam-
iner doing the match. But that's the short term.

In the longer term, Tax Systems Modernization brings an enor-

mous improvement to the match process by bringing the posting of

the matched documents to our master file before a return settles.

We envision, upon implementation of the total set of systems
changes that we will put in place over the next several years, we
will get to a point where we will actually have information on in-

terest and dividends in the taxpayer's account before the return is

filed. So instead of it being 2 years after the fact when we do that

match, which is about what it is today
Mr. Spratt. It will be waiting when he files his return.

Mr. Westfall. It will be there when the return settles, and in-

stantly we will communicate with the taxpayer relative to a mis-
match. Those kinds of things, very, very early and very, very com-
plete transactions, are what will help us more with compliance in

the future than almost anything else. It certainly provides a stage
from which we can move forward with other compliance methods.

Mr. Spratt. Mr. Horn asked you about real estate transactions.

One of the changes in the law in 1991 was to require—it might
have been earlier—but, in any event, a recent change in the law
was to require filing, at closing of the transaction, pertinent data
regarding the transaction. Do you have any sort of capsulized sum-
mary of now effective this particular measure has been in collecting

taxes due on real estate transactions?
Mr. Dolan. I do not have that at my fingertips, but we can sup-

ply it to you. We do individual studies around those various match-
ing programs.

[The information referred to follows:]

84-131 0-94-3



62

Section 6045(e) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 requires
that an information return is required to be filed in the case of
Real Estate transactions. This law applies to real estate
transactions closing after December 31, 1986.

The latest year for which statistical data is available for the
Underreporter Program is tax year 1990. For tax year 1990
2,968,000 information returns (Form 1099S) were filed to report
real estate transactions. Of these 30,452 cases were worked in
the Underreporter Program. (CP2000 notices were sent to these
taxpayers.) The additional tax assessments totaled $13,591,132.
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Mr. Spratt. Has it been significantly effective, or are you finding
transactions that probably wouldn't have been reported in the
past?
Mr. Dolan. Yes, both with respect to initial matching, but also

in the context of examination.
Mr. Spratt. I think that information would be helpful, because

its an illustration of a particularly new system of reporting that
didnt exist in the past. If you could not show some significant in-
crement of income taxes as a result, it would allow some inferences
about what taxpayer compliance measures can do.
Looking at all these things—going back to fiscal year 1991 do

you have an estimate at your fingertips, or one you can provide for
the record, of how much revenues have been collected due to the
taxpayer initiative, compliance initiative that was part of the Budg-
et Enforcement Act of 1991? Do you have a dollar amount that you
can attribute to that initiative?
Ms. Richardson We do, Mr. Chairman. I guess the overall

amount is in the $13 billion range that is attributable to that ini-
tiative.

Mr. Spratt. Through fiscal year 19937

Ms. Richardson. Through 1993; correct.
Mr. Spratt. $13 billion.

Ms. Richardson. Right. And we are currently in 1994 So you
can see, we feel it was a good investment then, and that is whywe think our $405 million initiative would be a good investment
today.
Mr. Spratt It may be in your testimony. I didn't see it. Could

you give us a breakout of that?
Ms. Richardson. We certainly can. And I would be happy to sub-

mit tor the record exactly how we spent the money and where the
revenues have come in.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. Spratt. Now, as I look at your budget this year, and as I

look at Mr. Tobias' testimony, which is coming next, there are some
significant decreases in manpower, personnel, and in some signifi-

cant areas of the Service.

Taxpayer services, which was a large part of your testimony, ob-
viously, the Service wants to enhance the services you are render-
ing; you want to make them more efficient by using better data
processing. But you acknowledge that getting good responses over
the telephone may be a large part of the solution, just getting an
answer the first time you call and not being referred multiple
places. Getting an authoritative response may be a large part of
getting taxpayers to work more cooperatively with and appreciate
the IRS better.

Taxpayer services is going down 249 people between 1994 and
1995, and between 1993 ana 1995, it will go down 631 people. Can
we assume that TSM is really going to generate that kind of pro-
ductivity so we can dispense with these people and still get the an-
swers tnat taxpayers want when they call on the telephone, still

get the telephone answered, indeed?
Mr. DOLAN. Can we make this a two-headed response?
Mr. Spratt. OK.
Mr. Dolan. I think, in the short run, what I am going to ask

Larry Westfall to do is talk about some of the here and now precur-
sors of where Tax Systems Modernization will take us on the tele-

phones.
What we have done, though, in today's environment, notwith-

standing those kinds of decreases in staff power applied to the
business of taxpayer services, we have attempted to maximize,
within today's suite of equipment, our resources in such a way
that, notwithstanding that downward step in people, we are actu-
ally, at this time this year, answering a half million more tele-

phone calls in the filing season than we did this time last year.
So, between the introduction of the technology and the emphasis

on both quality and management of time and gating the traffic, I

think we have made up, to some extent, some of the shortfalls in
staffing by increased efficiency. That does not get it for the long
haul. I think the long haul answer, Mr. Westfall may be able to

share some dimensions of our customer service strategy.
Mr. Westfall. To begin with, historically, the great majority of

our telephone activity has been focused on taxpayer assistance, an-
swering questions, dealing with account-related issues. Under the
customer service vision for the future, we would envision customer
service being the first step in ensuring voluntary compliance.
As I mentioned earlier, the earlier posting of accounts and the

significant, unprecedented use of the telephone by IRS in dealing
with the taxpaying public very quickly after events take place, will

have more impact on voluntary compliance than almost anything
else we do.

What we have begun to do already in installing technology is put
more automated equipment in our telephone sites than we have
had in the past. And that is significant productivity improvements
and also quality improvements in what our assisters are able to do.

There are several reasons for this: No. 1, we are beginning to use
the voice response units, our routing units, on the front end of the
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systems. We have them in about half of our telephone locations

today. They enable people to get into the system and, through
interacting with the system, get gated and routed down to specialty

areas where they can get assistance, either getting into the
TeleTax system, where they can get automated assistance, or drop-
ping out to a real assister and getting access to someone who is as
fully prepared to deal with them in a specialty of law, like depre-
ciation. Taxpayers are routing themselves through these automated
routing devices.

These devices are proving to be, in the locations where we have
them, very effective in getting more taxpayers in, more taxpayers
served, and improving the quality of what we do.

We have also made a significant amount of additional informa-
tion available to assisters already through what information sys-

tems has been able to do with our existing file structures. So we
have very, very significantly, by 31 percent this year, increased the
number of one-stop or online closures that we have been able to ac-

complish with a taxpayer who calls in.

In other words, a taxpayer calls in and has a problem, we can
take care of that problem through the information available. The
assister can then deal with the issue, answer the question, close it

out without followup, having to refer the taxpayer to an additional
point in the system, all of those kinds of things.

So we have begun to make significant changes in our telephone
operations already, beginning to blend, beginning to bring informa-
tion in, beginning to use more and more technology, and we will

move very, very aggressively to continue that over the next several

years, moving toward the full customer service environment.
Mr. Spratt. The other areas are even more significant than that.

Returns processing, if you look at fiscal year 1993 as compared to

fiscal year 1995, you lose 4,022 billets, 4,022 service agents in re-

turns processing. Now, we've already noted we have problems with
nonfilers that have increased 2 million returns in 1 year. Is this

automation—can we free up this many positions alone and still

have the kind of vigilance we need in pursuing those who aren't

filing the returns they are supposed to file?

Mr. Dolan. This is a very dangerous question to answer with the

Chief of Taxpayer Services sitting at my back, because I think
what Judy has done, and what that organization has done—returns
processing is the place from which much of the early Tax Systems
Modernization productivity has been harvested. And much of that

has been harvested in step with the automation that has come in;

some of it has been harvested, quite frankly, ahead of the full yield

on the TSM initiatives.

What we have done is, I think, a masterful job of staying in

touch where the workload is increasing. And that is a good indica-

tor, when the workload increases, in terms of returns coming at

you. But, I think, through a number of modernization initiatives

and, quite frankly, through some management improvement, we
are able to hold our own. It is not a place where we can take any
kind of appreciable broadsides, though, and still get the tasks of a
filing season done.
Mr. Spratt. So we are cutting to the margin, then?
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Mr. Dolan. We are at a point where we can not handle any un-
foreseen external events or we would be in trouble, in a filing sea-

son.

Mr. Spratt. Examination, there's 3,621, just about as significant

a number. I think the figure I've seen is, about 1.03 percent audits
of returns being filed?

Mr. Dolan. I think this year's examination rate will be about
1.5. That is, in large part, a function of the additional units of work
that have been put in in the nonfiler arena.

I think you're looking at the 1993 to 1995 shift in examination.
That does not all come out of the revenue agent category. What we
have attempted to do there, in the support and other categories, is

take as significant a proportion of that cut as we could, so as to

not affect the tax examiner, the tax auditor, and the revenue agent.

But all three of those occupations have indeed had some diminish-
ment in the 1993 to 1995 environment.
Mr. Spratt. Would you agree that you're cutting to the margin

there?
Mr. Dolan. Well, I think that's probably—cutting to the margin

is maybe a charitable way of saying it. I think, in the context of

the discussion we were having earlier about what we think we
know about the noncompliance, there are some huge opportunities

out there that
Mr. Spratt. If we had more examinations, we would find more

nonreported income.
Mr. Dolan. Absolutely.
Ms. Richardson. I think you have touched on exactly why it is

so important to have that compliance initiative fully funded for

next year, because I think it will allow us, for the first time, to put
more people in some of these compliance positions, not just in ex-

amination, but in the international area and the criminal tax area,

so that we can make a significant difference in the compliance lev-

els.

Mr. Spratt. Now, in the area of international, I'm not sure what
that is, but President Clinton made a big pitch during his cam-
paign for collecting some of the taxes that multinational firms al-

legedly do not pay when they do business in this country. And I

think we all know that that's easier said than done. It is sophisti-

cated area of tax enforcement as well as tax law. Yet we are cut-

ting 209 people. Is that a classic case of being penny wise and
pound foolish?

Ms. Richardson. Again, with the compliance initiative, that
would not be the result. That is, again, why we are very anxious
to have it supported, because we would agree with you, it would
be penny wise and pound foolish.

We now have an international program that is in a position to

really yield significant compliance results. We have what we call

our advance pricing agreement program, where we are bringing
companies in ahead of time and working out, in the transfer pric-

ing area, working out methodologies, so we do not have to expend
audit resources, examiner resources, and ultimately litigate issues.

It also provides taxpayers with the certainty they need to conduct
their business. It accelerates the revenues coming into the Treas-
ury.
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This is a program that we would not want to cut back on at all;

our compliance initiative would allow us to expand that program.
Mr. Spratt. In the area of collection, there's 2,132 FTE's. Now,

I think we would all agree that collections is sort of like examina-
tion. In the case of collection, you've found the money due and pay-
able, but my experience with working with your own agents and
taxpayers who have delinquent accounts is, it's a very labor-inten-

sive process.

You have to go examine their assets, find what is liquidatable
and what isn't, and make business decisions about whether or not
you want to come down hard or back off and allow the taxpayer
to try to work his way out of it. And there's no substitute for hav-
ing people there. You can't automate this process easily.

Ms. Richardson. That is correct.

Mr. Spratt. Given a $60 plus billion accounts receivable that we
seem to be unable to work down to a lower level, does it make
sense to knock 2,132 people out of collections?

Ms. Richardson. No, we do not think so. Again, our compliance
initiative would allow us not to have to do that.

Mr. Spratt. And document matching, I guess that is 635 there,

at least you can say we have a computer that will enhance the
Ms. Richardson. That's certainly going to help, but, again, once

those documents are matched, we have to do some followup with
the taxpayers in order to make that compliance program effective.

So it is extremely important, as I think you pointed out, not to rely

solely on the technology. We do have to have people to run these
programs.
Mr. Spratt. In my own experience—and I think if we had an

open mike in the room, everybody in the room would have anec-
dotes to tell about their experiences with the Internal Revenue
Service—is that when you allegedly find a document that is

crossmatched and underreported, but it's a mistake, you have a
hell of a time explaining to the service center that this is a mis-
take, a genuine mistake. This was reported, or this was included,

or this is the wrong ID number, whatever it may be.

That's where people come in. You have to have somebody making
the data entry who can read it, acknowledge that this taxpayer is

correct, and dispose of it and get on with something more fruitful.

Ms. Richardson. Absolutely. And I think this is probably the
one area where many, many taxpayers can identify with the bene-
fits that Tax Systems Modernization is going to provide us, and
that is online information, so when someone does call and says, for

example, "I did report that; I had it on line 9 instead of line 10,"

you can have a live person on the other end looking at that record

and saying, "You're absolutely right; we will take care of it right

now on the telephone," and that's the end of the process, instead

of correspondence crossing in the mail, building frustrations on
both sides.

So I think we clearly have to have the people, but that is also

an area where the modernization efforts are going to help us con-

siderably.

Mr. Spratt. You have given Treasury an estimate, as I under-
stand it, to the Office of Tax Analysis, of what total revenues can
be recouped if the compliance program, the compliance initiative is
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implemented, and it's a total of $9.8 billion from fiscal 1995
through fiscal 1999. Does that include the cost? Is that net of the
cost, or is that just gross return?
Ms. Richardson. No, actually the gross number is $9.2 billion.

Actually, we have developed that number working with Treasury,
but their Office of Tax Analysis has validated the number. That is

not actually our number. I think we view that as a very conserv-

ative amount.
Mr. Spratt. The cost is $405 million a year times
Ms. Richardson. Five years.

Mr. Spratt [continuing]. Five years, which is a little over $2 bil-

lion.

Ms. Richardson. That is correct.

Mr. Spratt. So the net return is $7 billion in that period of time,
better than $7 billion.

Ms. Richardson. Correct—$7.2 billion.

Mr. Spratt. How do you baseline this amount? First of all, do
you feel this is a valid estimate? Can you validate the estimate?
Ms. Richardson. Yes, I think we can, and we will be happy to

provide you and your staff with the backup. I think the people at
the Office of Tax Analysis will be happy to, as well.

Mr. Spratt. I think it would be very useful.

Ms. Richardson. I think we feel that it is a conservative esti-

mate, but we would prefer to be more conservative than not.

Mr. Spratt. Now, if we wanted to baseline revenues today and
identify this increment as it was realized over the years, so that
we could comply with Director Panetta's feelings that this should
not be simply charged up to increased benefits, it shouldn't be
spent, it should be put on some kind of scorecard and charged to

the deficit, we would pay the additional expense to the IRS and
give you a dispensation from the budget cap for that reason, but
otherwise we would charge any resulting gain to deficit reduction,
how do we do that?
How do we baseline today's revenues and identify the increment

that is being realized because of enhanced compliance measures?
Ms. Richardson. Well, we have been able to track the last com-

pliance initiative that we really had, which was our fiscal year
1991 initiative and I think have been able to indicate what kinds
of revenues it has produced. We would anticipate doing the same
thing for this initiative, although we have actually more sophisti-

cated management information today, so I think we could give you
much more precise information as we moved along.

I think each and every one of us sitting at this table and the sen-

ior management of the organization, as well as Mr. Tobias, with
whom I have had conversations, are very committed to this, be-

cause I think we really do feel that we have to put money where
our mouth is, if you will, and that we ought to be held accountable.
So we feel very strongly that we should be able to track this ini-

tiative, we want to be able to do it, and we plan to do that.

Mr. Spratt. In submitting your validation for the $9.8 billion es-

timate, could you also submit how it might be baselined and
tracked over the next 5 year?
Ms. Richardson. Absolutely. We will be happy to.

[The information referred to follows:]
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INVESTING IN TAX COMPLIANCE
FY 1995 COMPLIANCE INITIATIVE

OPPORTUNITY

The Federal Budget deficit will be approximately $170 billion in

FY 1995. Through its current compliance programs, IRS collects about

$34 billion a year in taxes due but not reported or paid. We can do

better.

Increasing investment in compliance programs can yield several

times its cost and contribute to improved voluntary compliance.

Compliance levels are at approximately 83%. Each one percent change

in this level will generate up to $10 billion in additional taxes each year.

EDAPPROACH

Budget Accommodation - The Administration is working with the

Congress on a budget approach that will permit funding of $405 million

in additional compliance programs in FY 1995. Tax revenues from these

initiatives are estimated at between $9 and $ 1 billion over the FY 1 995-

FY 1999 period and will reduce projected budget deficits.

Good Business - The Internal Revenue Service is the principal profit

center for the Federal Government, collects over 90% of all Federal

receipts. On average, IRS compliance programs return $5 for every $1

spent. Stability in financing tax administration just makes good business

sense.

Long Term - The FY 1995 initiative is a first step in a long-term

strategy to improve voluntary compliance by investing streamlining and

modernization savings in front-line compliance and customer service

activities.

-1-
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|
DELIVERY ON COMMITMENTS jj

For FY 1995, IRS is in an unprecedented position to make a

compliance difference.

r For the first time, labor costs are fully funded. IRS and OMB
have worked together to identify factors affecting IRS labor

costs and funded FTE on mutually agreed projections.

«- Actual results can be tracked. A new system for tracking

enforcement revenue separately from voluntary receipts was
put in place on October 1, 1993. A new financial

management system installed in FY 1993 will account for

costs accurately.

w Modernization investments are helping IRS work smarter and

faster. A new compliance research system supported by TSM
will allow IRS to pinpoint specific problem areas.

«r We are consolidating our resources management support in

fewer sites and reducing regional and National Office staff.

We will put many more of these initiative FTE into the front

line compliance related positions.



72

TRACKING FY 1995 COMPLIANCE
INITIATIVES METHODOLOGY

FTE DELIVERY

Through its Automated Financial System, IRS can track FTE delivery

by category of employee and organization on a real-time basis. One IRS

success measure for delivering the initiative will be realizing ail FTE
provided to IRS for compliance purposes over the President's baseline

budget.

INITIATIVE HIRING

At the Baseline Budget level, IRS would do no hiring in Compliance

employment categories - Revenue Agents, Tax Auditors, Revenue

Officers, Special Agents. IRS will track and report on hiring done in

these categories nationwide as a result of receiving the Initiative.

RESULTS

To measure revenue results, IRS will use its new Enforcement

Revenue Information System which tracks actual revenues from all

enforcement cases:

• by amount of tax collected compared to that recommended by

auditors;

• by income stratification or audit class;

• by type of tax at issue;

• by time period.
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-2

Actual results will be compared to estimates and the reasons for

differences specified.

REPORTING FREQUENCY

Revenue results, hiring information and FTE realization will be

presented in a comprehensive report on a quarterly basis.
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GAO RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING IRS REVENUE ESTIMATES

GAO RECOMMENDATIONS
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Mr. Spratt. Mr. Cox, do you have any further questions?

Mr. Cox. Thank you. I would just like to follow up on the budget
aspect of this. I serve on the Budget Committee, we are taking our

budget to the floor in just a few days, and we've just finished mark-
up last week.

In your testimony, and I will just read from it, you say, "Our pro-

posed fiscal year 1995 budget of $7,613 billion represents an in-

crease of $261 million or 3.5 percent. Highlights of the budget re-

quest include a $405 million compliance initiative." I read that to

mean that the $7,613 billion includes the $405 million, in which
case, were it not included, you would be looking at a 2 percent cut.

But, in fact, isn't it the case that the $7,613 billion does not include

the $405 million?

Ms. Richardson. That is correct. So if we have left that implica-

tion, that was incorrect. The $405 million is on top of the $7.6 bil-

lion.

Mr. Cox. So the 3.5 percent increase does not include the $405
million and it represents roughly a quarter billion dollar increase

over the year before, without the $405 million; is that right?

Ms. Richardson. That is correct. But $311 million of that is for

Tax Systems Modernization.
Mr. Cox. I understand. I understand. But our base in 1994 was

$7,352 billion.

Ms. Richardson. The dollars have gone up; the FTE levels have
gone down.
Mr. Cox. And we are moving in 1995, without the compliance ini-

tiative, to $7,613 billion or about a quarter billion dollars more?
Ms. Richardson. That is correct.

Mr. Cox. And that's a 3.5 percent increase. If we include the

compliance initiative, we are looking at a 9 percent increase from
last year, taking us over $8 billion, and we would have to break
the caps; right?

Ms. Richardson. No, the $405 million compliance initiative is

outside of the caps completely. It would be part of a budget resolu-

tion, and the dollars would go directly to deficit reduction. It's not

part of the base budget at all.

Mr. Cox. But, in fact, there is no such arrangement right now.
Your budget is covered within the discretionary spending caps; isn't

that right?

Ms. Richardson. That is correct. Our base budget is within the

discretionary spending caps.

Mr. Cox. So, in order to have a 9 percent increase in fiscal year
1995 over fiscal year 1994, we would have to break the caps or

waive the caps; is that right?

Ms. Richardson. I am not as knowledgeable about the mechan-
ics of the Budget Act as others. But, as I understand it, a precedent

was set in 1991, when we did have a revenue initiative which was
outside of the caps. I am told that the initiative can be handled
through the budget resolution process; it is not a question of having
to amend the law or anything.
Mr. Cox. Well, specifically, the 1990 budget deal contemplated

making room in the caps. It was a flexible cap for the purpose of

that initiative. There isn't any such provision in the existing ar-
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rangement that defines the caps for a 9-percent increase from fiscal

year 1994 to fiscal year 1995. So we would have to waive the caps.
Ms. Richardson. The mechanics, as I say, of how it would be

done, I can not address here today. But what we would like to do,
and what Secretary Bentsen and Director Panetta have asked is

that we be able to work with the Congress, specifically with this

subcommittee, and the Budget Committees, to try to work out a
way to, within the confines of the budget law, to realize this initia-

tive.

Mr. Cox. Just reading from the budget itself, the President and
OMB have suggested that they intend to work with the Congress
to develop an initiative to consider this spending outside the caps.
So I think we are all in agreement that, if the caps remain in
place, we can't have the 9-percent increase, and that Congress has
to somehow
Ms. Richardson. We will have to do something with the budget

process or the Budget Act, the way the budget is currently struc-

tured, to have that $405 million.

Mr. Cox. Now, I want to just explore the rationale for doing that,

because the Service's budget right now is considered within the do-
mestic discretionary spending caps. Your argument is that, because
the Service is in the business of revenue collection, when you spend
more money in the Service, you get more revenue, and shouldn't
we, therefore, be willing to make this as an investment? Doesn't
that argue for excluding the Service's budget from the spending
caps?
Ms. Richardson. We would certainly support that notion, but I

am not sure there is general support to do that today.
Long term, I think that that is something that we want to ex-

plore with Congress, but, certainly, short term, I think that the fis-

cal year 1995 approach is a way to begin the process. I think, over
the longer term, it would make great good sense to look at all of
the revenue-raising agencies of the government in a very different

way than we do your other programs.
One of the things that is of most concern to me, I am certainly

not a budget expert but I know more about the budget than I did
a year ago, is that the process is very much driven by the caps and
by certain spending, but never any thought given to the revenue
side. We feel, and I think this administration feels, that perhaps
you ought to look at the revenue-producing operations of the gov-
ernment somewhat differently than other programs. Perhaps they
should be given a different kind of look than just an across-the-
board cut every time government spending is cut.

We have, in fact, had to descore over $6 billion in revenue in the
last 4 years because of cuts to the IRS budget. Now, that is money
that has had to be made up through tax increases or reduced
spending somewhere else. It does not seem to make good business
sense. I do not think you would run your business, nor would I, by
not taking a hard look at the revenue-producing side of the busi-
ness and really trying to work with it to make it make sense.
Mr. Cox. I want to make sure I understood your earlier response

concerning OMB's recommendation that the Service pursue a pilot

program of hiring private collection agencies. Did you say that you
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would or would not undertake such a pilot performance in fiscal

1995?
Ms. Richardson. What I said, or what I intended to say
Mr. Cox. I'm sorry. Just to make sure I put the question square-

ly, I'm asking about fiscal 1995. Do you intend to do this during
fiscal year 1995?
Ms. Richardson. The reference to the collection out activity was

not in the revenue side of the budget. I think that we are having
conversations and will be having conversations with OMB about
what types of things might be appropriate, but there was nothing
included in the budget, based on the revenue side, for a collection

out program.
Mr. Cox. So, even if we break the spending caps and you get a

9-percent budget increase in fiscal year 1995, your view is, you
have no money to do a pilot program for private collection?

Ms. Richardson. I think we would have to take a look at that

and also sit down with OMB and see what makes the most sense.

Mr. Cox. But you have already done the fiscal year 1995 budget,

and you have not included it in the 9-percent increase.

Ms. Richardson. It was never discussed as part of that budget.

We never discussed that with OMB as part of the budget.

Mr. Cox. I find that, in itself, a reason to oppose the 9-percent

increase. I would hope that you would take more seriously Director

Panetta's recommendation.
Ms. Richardson. Well, we are certainly going to be talking with

them, but it was never discussed prior to the submission of the

budget.
Mr. Cox. Thank you.

Mr. Spratt. Let me state for the record an opposing view. I

didn't mention the delegation of collection efforts to private agen-

cies, but there are several aspects of Federal taxes which I believe

make it inadvisable.
First of all, it's the sanctity of our tax returns, which we have

protected for a long time, at least since the onset of the income tax.

We have a Privacy Act which basically provides that they are not

accessible to anybody outside the Revenue Service without our con-

sent. I think that is a good thing and a conservative principle, and
I think it ought to be observed.

Second, as Mr. Dolan said, I think the Internal Revenue Service

has some extraordinary devices at its disposal. In order to collect

income, you have access to administrative subpoenas, which very

few other agencies can utilize. You have a tax lien, a statutory lien,

which is just about as broad, encompassing, and tenacious in the

way it attaches to real and personal assets as anything known to

the law of nonconsensual liens. And I do not think that devices like

that should be lightly handed over to private collection agencies,

which are known to be heavy handed. That's the way they accom-
plish their end objectives.

There are some things that are nondelegatable, and I think the

collection of Federal income taxes ought to remain in the hands of

the government. Just to state an opposing point of view.

[Applause.]
Mr. Cox. If I might, just for the record, respond on the merits.

I think that OMB's recommendation is for a pilot program, and un-
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less we have some real experience with how this might be con-

ducted, we do not know whether our theories are correct or not.

Second, I have daily evidence in my district office, and I suspect
that Congressman Spratt and Congressman Horn do, as well, of
heavy handedness by the IRS. The Commissioner's sympathies not-
withstanding, it isn't always the case, in regional offices and in the
field, that people understand when they should stop before they
push someone over the cliff into bankruptcy, that the Service might
get more money if they worked out a better deal.

Mr. Spratt. I wholeheartedly agree with you about that.

Mr. Cox. There is not conclusive evidence on the record that the
way we do it now is the best way and the most sensitive way. I

would, for one, like at least to pursue it so that we find out, on the
basis of real world data, whether we might, as an augmentation or
supplementation, certainly not as a wholesale substitution for what
presently we do, whether we can't improve the government's collec-

tion efforts. And I think that's why Director Panetta and OMB
have made this formal recommendation to IRS.
Ms. Richardson. Mr. Cox, we certainly want to do everything we

can to improve the revenue collection efforts. We spend a lot of our
energy looking at that very issue. And I hope that you would not
leave with the understanding that we are not going to explore
every conceivable possibility.

I share Mr. Spratt's concern about the possibility of using private
collection agencies. I think we are having further dialog with OMB.
I think my comment was that we had had no conversation with
them, per se, in connection with the fiscal year 1995 budget about
collecting out, but we are certainly cognizant of the fact that we
have to look at how we collect revenues and what we can do to en-
hance the collections. But I do not personally think that contract-
ing out the collection function would be a panacea for increasing
collections.

Mr. Spratt. Mr. Horn.
Mr. Horn. Just in closing, let me say, I happen to agree with my

colleague, Chris Cox, that you ought to try that experiment. I think
one of the problems with large organizations, and I have run one,
not as large as yours, you have a major size in your organization,
is the fact that too often experimentation is discouraged by people
who say, "Well, we thought about that," or "We tried that 10 years
ago or 20 years ago or 30 years ago," or whatever the collective

memory is, "and it didn't work."
You are never going to know that until, as Mr. Cox says, you get

the empirical evidence one way or the other, if you assume a fair

demonstration.
Let me just say, on the ombudsman role of Members of Congress,

where both of our colleagues agreed with each other, I think you
have some superb people helping members at Laguna Niguel. I

have had nothing but cooperation from them.
Let's face it, any large human organization is going to do some

dumb things that you will never know about, and none of you sit-

ting at that table will ever know about, as the wheels grind out.

Often it's where nobody has brought the different parts of the
agency together before someone slaps a lien which prevents the
taxpayer from paying off the obligation, which is over in another
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part of the agency not yet resolved as to who owes who. It turned
out, in one case that I personally got involved in, the taxpayer was
right, and yet—they finally got the lien lifted, understood it, solved
the problem, and the taxpayer was right.

I think what you are doing to get empowerment down in the or-

ganization is good, I commend you for that. To get the compliance
level down there where they can coordinate the different pieces, be-

cause going into bankruptcy isn't going to get us any taxes. If the
person can pay it, or somebody can make a decision as to what is

the fair tax due, then we will all be ahead of it and take the tax-

payer in good stead and the government in good stead.

I am going to file for the record a question here that I would like

you to answer. Let me read it into the record.

The IRS document on the compliance initiative states that many of the full-time

equivalents saved through its modernization effort will be put into the front line,

compliance-related positions or enforcement staff. In fact, IRS is asking for 5,000
FTE positions for the compliance initiative.

Three questions: What kind of skills will be necessary for the employees who are
working in the front line, compliance-related positions? Second question, what kind
of retraining will these PTE's need in order to go from the administrative positions

to compliance-related positions? Three, what resources have been allotted to this ef-

fort?

If you would just file those answers, I would be appreciative.

Ms. Richardson. We'd be delighted to.

[The information referred to follows:]
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a) There are currently several positions on the front-line for tax compliance. Most of the

positions and skills will continue to be required for front-line compliance jobs of the

future. These positions and attendant skills are briefly catalogued on the attachments.

New positions include: the Customer Service Representative (CSR) which is in

development at the Customer Service prototype sites at the Fresno Service Cemer and

Nashville District Office, and the Compliance Officer which is in initial stages of

development.

An Occupational Analysis will be conducted by August 31, 1994, on the following

positions:

Revenue Officer Revenue Representative

Revenue Officer Aide Tax Auditor

Audit Accounting Aide Customer Service Representative

The Occupational Analysis, including duties, tasks, skills, and proficiency level, will

contribute to the Individual Assessment Instrument used by employees to identify their

current skill level. This will provide a "gap" analysis between skills needed for a

particular occupation and an individual employees actual skills. It will assist in

identifying occupational, as well as individual, opportunities/needs for training,

retraining and deployment to new positions.

The current front-line positions, necessary skills, and estimated retraining time from an

administrative position are detailed below.
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REVENUE REPRESENTATIVE GS-592-07
• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral

• Interviewing

• Explaining and persuading

• Organizing Skills

- Documentation and recordkeeping

- Planning steps and methods

- Time management
- Workload management

Research Skills

- Finding source documents
- Researching IDRS

• Computer Skills

- Use of TSM tools

Application of Tax Procedure

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

• Decisionmaking

• Judgement and Working Independently

• Interpersonal and Negotiating

- Face to face contact with taxpayer

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Revenue Representative, the retraining time

required would be approximately 296 hours.
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REVENUE OFFICER AIDE GS-592-06
• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension/proofreading

- Written reports and correspondence writing

-Oral

• Interviewing

• Explaining and persuading

• Interpersonal relations over telephone

• Organizing Skills

- Documentation and recordkeeping

- Time management
- Workload management

Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IDRS
• Computer Skills

- Use of TSM tools

• Application of Tax Procedure

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

• Decisionmaking

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Revenue Aide, the retraining time required would

be approximately 104 hours.
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REVENUE OFFICER GS-1 169-09

• Investigative skills

• Analytical skills

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

- Financial data

Recordkeeping

Oral and written communication and documentation

Decisionmaking

Time and workload management
Travel management

Customer Relations

- Interpersonal skills

- Explanation of taxpayer rights

Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral

• Interviewing

• Explaining and persuading

Judgement and Working Independently

Interpersonal and Negotiating

- Face to face contact with taxpayer

Basic computer skills

Basic budget and accounting skills

Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IDRS
Application of Tax Procedure

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Revenue Officer, the retraining time required

would be approximately 304 hours with on-the-job-training (OJT) time of

approximately 1680 hours (42 weeks).
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SPECIAL PROCEDURES FUNCTION (SPF) INSOLVENCY TECHNICIAN GS-592-07
Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Transcript reading

- Written/forms

- Oral-attorney contact

- Debtor contact

- Interpersonal relations

Organizing Skills

- Document preparation

- Recordkeeping

- Case tracking/monitoring

• Research Skills

- Researching 1DRS
- Researching other areas

Case Reviewing and Control Skills

- Identification

- Recognition

- Classification

- Closing

• Computer Skills

- Use of TSM tools

- Use of IDRS
• Application of Tax Procedure

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

• Decisionmaking

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to an SPF Insolvency Technician, the retraining time

required would be approximately 40 hours.
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COLLECTION ACCOUNT ANALYST GS-592-07 if chosen as Early Intervention

Analysts

• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written communication

- Oral communication

• Interviewing via telephone: taxpayers, representatives and third party

contacts

• Interpersonal relations

- Liaison /consulting

• Negotiating

• Organizing Skills

- Documentation

- Processing paperwork

• Computer Skills

- Use of computerized telephone system

- Use of TSM tools

• Research Skills

- IDRS/ADP/ACS
- Outside sources

• Investigative Skills

Application of Tax Procedure

• Analytical Skills

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

• Decisionmaking

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Collection Account Analyst, the retraining time

required would be approximately 120 hours with OJT time of approximately 120 hours

(3 weeks).
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AUDIT ACCOUNTING AIDE GS-503-06

Basic Skills Requirement

• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension/proofreading

- Written reports and correspondence writing

-Oral
• Interviewing

• Explaining and persuading

• Interpersonal relations over telephone

• Organizing Skills

- Documentation and recordkeeping

- Time management
- Workload management

• Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IRM
- Researching

• Computer Skills

- Use of TSM tools

- Spreadsheet Construction

- Wordprocessing

Application of Tax Procedure

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

• Decisionmaking

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

Several of the regions intend to conduct skills assessments in conjunction with

redeployments, and then conduct some basic skills training. To transition from an

administrative position to an Accounting Aide, the formal retraining time required

would be 80 hours of classroom and whatever personal coaching is deemed necessary.
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TAX AUDITOR GS-526-05/07

Basic Skills Requirement

• Investigative skills

• Analytical skills

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

- Financial data

Recordkeeping

Oral and written communication and documentation

Decisionmaking

Time and workload management

Travel management

Customer Relations

- Interpersonal skills

- Explanation of taxpayer rights

Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral interviewing

- Explaining and persuading

Judgement and Working Independently

Interpersonal and Negotiating

- Face to face contact with taxpayer

Basic computer skills

Basic budget and accounting skills

Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IRM
- Researching Tax Services

Application of Tax Procedure

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Tax Auditor, the formal retraining time required

would be approximately 680 hours (including OJT time; 282 hours of formal training

& 398 hours of OJT). As with the Accounting Aide position, some regions are

planning to conduct skills assessments and basic skills training for redeployees. In

addition to the formal training, we also have an agreement to provide six (6) hours of

college accounting in the form of out-service training.



89

REVENUE AGENT GS-512-05/07

Basic Skills Requirement

• Twenty-four (24) Hours of college level accounting

• Investigative skills

Analytical skills

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

- Financial data

Recordkeeping

Oral and written communication and documentation

Decisionmaking

Time and workload management

Travel management

Customer Relations

- Interpersonal skills

- Explanation of taxpayer rights

Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral interviewing

- Explaining and persuading

Judgement and Working Independently

Interpersonal and Negotiating

- Face to face contact with taxpayer

Basic computer skills

Basic budget and accounting skills

Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IRM
- Researching Tax Services

Application of Tax Procedure

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions to

compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Revenue Agent, the formal retraining time required

would be approximately 729 hours (including OJT time; 529 hours of forma! training

& 200 hours of OJT).
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CUSTOMER SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE GS-592-07
• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral interviewing

- Explaining and persuading

• Customer Relations

- Interpersonal skills

- Explanation of taxpayer rights

• Organizing Skills

- Documentation and recordkeeping

- Planning steps and methods

- Time management
- Workload management

• Research Skills

- Finding source documents

- Researching IDRS
- Using Probe and Response Guide in conjunction with researching

• Computer Skills

- Use of TSM tools

• Application of Tax Procedure and Tax Information

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

Decisionmaking

Judgement and Working Independently

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions

to compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Customer Service Representative, the retraining

time required would be approximately 296 hours. On-the-Job training is yet to be

determined.

10
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER GS-526-09
• Investigative Skills

• Analytical

- Problem identification

- Problem analysis

- Problem solving

- Financial data

Recordkeeping

Decisionmaking

• Time and Workload Management
• Customer Relations

- Interpersonal skills

- Explanation of taxpayer rights

• Communication Skills

- Reading comprehension

- Written reports and correspondence writing

- Oral interviewing

- Interpersonal relations over the telephone

Organizing Skills

- Documentation and recordkeeping

- Workload management
- Planning steps and methods

Judgement and Working Independently

Interpersonal and Negotiating

- Face to face contact with taxpayer

• Basic computer skills

- Generate computerized reports

Basic budget and accounting skills

Research Skills

- Researching IRM
- Researching IDRS and AIMS
- Researching Tax Services

- Researching Financial data bases

• Application of Tax Procedures

b) What kind of retraining will the FTEs need to go from the administrative positions

to compliance-related positions?

From an administrative position to a Compliance Officer, the formal retraining time

required would be approximately 680 hours (including OJT time; 282 hours of

formal training & 398 hours of OJT).

11
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c) What resources have been allocated to this effort?

The training and retraining efforts are a top priority and vital to the success of the

transition implementation. As needs are identified, we reassess the availability of

existing funds and redirect resources as appropriate.

Some actions underway to support the retraining effort include:

Corporate Education has set up teams to put together a new training package

for Revenue Agents and Revenue Officer recruits. The modular design

includes "pre" and "post" inventories with self-assessment exercises

(Diagnostic Testing).

There are newly restructured phases of training including a fast track course

for those who do well on the diagnostic tests.

The new structure features an earlier introduction to computers and the use of

computers as one of the teaching tools.

District Offices will hold a number of Basic Instructor Training and On-the-

Job Instructor Workshops to build their training cadres.

We have begun modeling to roughly estimate retraining costs for the new occupation

of Customer Service Representative (CSR) and reinvestment target positions. These

calculations are still being refined. The range for training a CSR is $1,420 to $2,083 per

trainee. This estimate includes the cost of course material/supplies, trainee travel and

contractor expenses (space and fees) which is the traditional method of costing training in

IRS. To that we have added the travel/per diem of instructors based on an assumption that

instructors will have to be in travel status a great deal for this initial wave of training on

such a large scale. The computation is also based upon a course length which accounts for

various entry skill levels/experience.

Similar computations for reinvestment target jobs:

Revenue Officer Aide, GS-592-06 $ 2,072 per trainee

Audit Acct Aide, GS-503-06 $ 2,241

Revenue Officer, GS- 1169-09 $ 6,696

Revenue Representative, GS-592-07 $ 5,738

The target job costs reflect the actual classroom costs listed in the Training Cost Models.

12
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Mr. Spratt. Well, we are going to let you go now. If you get any
more questions to take home, it's going to be another couple of

months before we can get your answers. We would appreciate your
responses to the questions that have been submitted for the record.

They will help us complete our examination of our subject.

We very much appreciate your testimony, all of your forthright

responses, and thank you again for your cooperation.

Ms. Richardson. Thank you very much.
Mr. Spratt. The next witness is Mr. Robert Tobias.
Mr. Tobias, we also have your testimony, and, if there is no ob-

jection, we will make the testimony, as submitted, part of the
record, so that you can summarize it in any way you see fit.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT TOBIAS, NATIONAL PRESIDENT,
NATIONAL TREASURY EMPLOYEES UNION

Mr. Tobias. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I really appre-
ciate this opportunity to testify with respect to Internal Revenue
Service budget.

I start with the proposition that the Internal Revenue Service is

primarily responsible for nurturing and preserving the voluntary
tax compliance system in the United States. The IRS is responsible

for generating 90 percent of the $1.6 trillion budget submitted in

1995. To be successful, the IRS needs a combination of increased
compliance activities and educational effort to increase the vol-

untary compliance level.

Currently, voluntary compliance is at 83 percent, with an IRS
stated goal of 90 percent. As the Commissioner testified, every 1-

percent increase leads to an increase in revenue between $7 billion

and $10 billion. We must increase voluntary compliance for essen-
tially two reasons: One, it increases revenues; but more impor-
tantly and also critically essential is that it increases confidence
and credibility in the system.

If the voluntary compliance system is falling, it falls at a geo-

metric rate, because more and more people feel that they do not
have to pay the proper amount. So the voluntary compliance level

is critically important to the success of the system.
We can only increase voluntary compliance through a combina-

tion of increased efficiency, increased education, and increased com-
pliance activities. The fiscal year 1995 budget standing alone is in-

adequate to accomplish the task. It would reduce the work force by
3,169 employees in key functions: examination, collection, taxpayer
services, and document matching.
The results of this decrease are predictable. The number of au-

dited returns drops from 1.5 to 1.3 million and 1.5 to 1.03 percent.

Recommended taxes and penalties fall from $23 billion in 1993 to

$21.7 billion in 1994 and $21.5 billion in 1995. The accounts receiv-

able inventory, the number of cases unprocessed, will increase from
4.1 to 4.6 million.

During the same period, the number of delinquent returns inves-

tigated of nonfilers will fall by 300,000, while the backlog of inven-
tory will increase by about 100,000. And revenue collected from de-

linquent accounts will decrease by about $66 million. The TDA dol-

lar inventory projected will increase from $27.2 billion in 1993 to

$27.9 billion in 1994 to $31.9 billion in 1995. The number of docu-

84-131 0-94
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merits matched decreases. The number of unanswered calls in-

creases.

So I think it is pretty clear that if we measure our effort in terms
of voluntary compliance, the budget, as submitted, doesn't get the

job done. The TSM effort which Congress has been funding will

give the IRS tremendous new efficiency and new opportunities, but
they will not be realized without additional compliance activities.

They will not be realized without the proposed 5,000 FTE revenue
initiative that has been proposed.

The cost of the effort is $405 million per year or a little over $2
billion over 5 years. It is projected that the return will very con-

servatively yield $9.8 billion over the same period. The compliance

initiative would focus on an increase in the number of tax returns

examined and increase the collection of delinquent taxes.

The projected revenue is not projected fiction; rather, it is based
on the calculation from the 1991 initiatives which are already

ahead of schedule. The 5-year goal for the 1991 initiatives was $9.7

billion but by September 1993 had already collected $13.6 billion,

or $4 billion over. What was projected in 5 years, we got in 3 years.

We are in a position to talk about revenue initiatives and more
compliance activities because of the TSM effort. More hardware
and more software would allow the IRS to use significantly fewer

employees to do the tax processing work. When we are talking

about the tax processing work, we are talking about the real grunt
work of the Internal Revenue Service, the stuff that is done by
hand in the service centers. If you have been in one of those service

centers, it looks much like an assembly line operation.

By removing that kind of work and redeploying those folks to

compliance activity, by providing taxpayer assistance, following up
on taxpayer correspondence, collecting delinquent accounts, and
conducting audits, we can make a dent in that voluntary compli-

ance rate; we can make a dent in the accounts receivable inventory.

Now, the redeployment agreement that was signed by NTEU and
IRS envisions a redeployment of those employees who are no longer

needed to do tax processing to compliance activities. The redeploy-

ment will require skills assessments and training on an extremely

large scale. I think the job can be accomplished because we are

starting early.

We are looking at each job on a job-by-job basis to figure out how
those jobs can be phased out and the new jobs be phased in over

a 7-year implementation period. We are prototyping skills assess-

ment, to be followed by training specifically tailored to the needs

of the affected employee. Training and development are critical to

the ultimate success of the IRS, TSM, and redeployment effort. The
training can't come in spurts; it must be available as jobs are

phased out and new opportunities created.

I am extremely hopeful, Mr. Chairman, that you and your com-

mittee will recommend to the Budget Committee that the $2 billion

initiative be funded outside the discretionary caps in the budget
resolution conference report.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to testify.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Tobias follows:]
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am Robert M. Tobias, National President of the National

Treasury Employees Union. NTEU is the exclusive representative of

over 150,000 Federal employees, including virtually all employees

of the Internal Revenue Service. On behalf of the men and women

who collect the revenue of the Federal government, I am pleased to

be here today to present our Union's views on the Internal Revenue

Service budget request for FY 1995.

IRS employees are mindful of the heavy responsibility they

bear for administration of the nation's tax system. Our voluntary

compliance system depends crucially on taxpayers' perception that

IRS workers are doing a good job steering the tax system with

fairness and efficiency. The budgetary challenge is how to

accomplish this with a growing taxpayer population and limited

resources

.

You have asked us to address three things. First, the budget

request for IRS proposed by the President. Second, the President's

pending legislative proposal for a 5,000 FTE revenue initiative to

be earmarked for deficit reduction. Third, whether management of

technical change through worker redeployment and retraining will be

adequate to the task.

The Administration's FY 1995 Budget Request for IRS

We believe the Administration's FY 1995 budget request for IRS
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would have serious adverse consequences for the nation ' s tax system

and should not be adopted unless combined with the 5,000 FTE

revenue initiative proposed by the President. NTEU does not

support the budget as a stand-alone measure. It must be a baseline

for FTE resources to be added — resources that would

conservatively generate $9.8 billion over 5 years.

Without the initiative, the budget is sadly inadequate to the

needs of a growing taxpayer population and the largely

uncontrollable demand from taxpayers for assistance. The budget

accepts a sharp deterioration in IRS' ability to follow up on a

minimally adequate level of compliance inventories — examinations,

accounts receivable, delinquent returns, underreporter notices, and

the like. It is an every day fact of life at IRS that while the

computer has greatly increased the Service's ability to identify

potentially non-compliant taxpayers, the percentage of cases

actually worked continues to fall as the population of returns

rises

.

The results are portrayed in the budget statement itself.

Overall, IRS would fall from 112,825 FTE in FY 1994 to 109,656 FTE

in FY 1995, a reduction of 3,169. The reductions in selected major

functions are as follows:

Taxpayer Services
Returns Processing 22,211
Examination
International
Collection
Document Matching

FY 1994
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FY 1995 resource levels are even more stark when compared to FY

1993 levels:

FY 1993 FY 1995 Reduction

Taxpayer Services 8,688 8,057 -631
Returns Processing 25,585 21,563 -4,022
Examination 29,665 26,044 -3,621
International 864 655 -209
Collection 19,257 17,125 -2,132
Document Matching 4,165 3,469 -696

Here you have a classic example of a go-and-stop budget policy —

a practice that knowledgeable observers of tax administration have

routinely deplored. In FY 1993 the system was humming, then the

brakes were slammed on in 1994 and even harder in 1995.

The results are predictable:

[b] The number of returns examined drops by more than 200,000

between FY 94 and FY 95, from 1.5 to 1.3 million returns.

This plunges audit coverage from 1.25% to 1.03%.

[b] Recommended taxes and penalties from exams falls from $23

billion in FY 1993 to $21.7 billion in FY 1994 and $21.5

billion in FY 1995 — a potential loss of revenue that

cumulates each year that the system has been stopped in its

tracks. Not all recommended taxes and penalties are

ultimately collected, but there is not only a substantial

direct revenue loss, there is also a substantial indirect

revenue loss from declining compliance associated with

declining audit coverage. The $120 billion tax gap will grow

faster, while IRS enforcement measures will take a smaller

3
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chunk out of the gap each year.

[b] The number of Appeals Officers will fall from 1,180 in FY 1993

to 1,143 in FY 1995 — a pennywise and poundfoolish reduction,

because Appeals Officers save taxpayers millions of dollars

and the Service can ill-afford to make any reduction in this

highly trained corps while workload levels remain as high in

1995 as in 1993.

[b] The number of examinations, delinquent account dispositions,

delinquent returns secured, and taxpayers assisted by the

International Division will remain flat between FY 1993 and FY

1995, despite steady growth in inventories to be processed.

[b] In collection, the accounts receivable backlog in active

inventory (the largest and most serious accounts) is projected

to rise from 4.1 million to 4.6 million from FY 1993 to FY

1995 — an increase in the backlog by a half million accounts

in two years. During the same period, the number of

delinquent returns investigations of non-filers will fall by

300,000, while the backlog of cases in active inventory rises

by nearly 100,000. Revenue collected from taxpayer delinquent

accounts actually falls (despite inflation) by $66 million.

At the same time, the amount of revenue in the active

inventory backlog, which is the best measure of revenue

legally owed but not being collected by the government in

large and serious cases, is projected to rise from $27.2

billion in FY 93 to $27.9 billion in FY 94, and to $31.9

billion in FY 1995. This represents a potential loss of $4
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billion each year from now on.

[b] In Document Matching (Information Returns Program), the number

of underreporter contacts falls from 2.7 to 2.5 million

between 1993 to 1995. The number of substitute for return

closures falls by nearly 200,000, and the number of non-filer

notices by 67,000. Net underreporter assessments drop from

$1.5 billion to $1.2 billion, and substitute for return

assessments fall from $2.1 billion to $1.8 billion. This is

a total loss of $600 million annually in assessments, but the

indirect impact on voluntary compliance will no doubt be even

more severe

.

[b] In Taxpayer Service, the number of taxpayers projected to be

served by the backbone of the system — the toll-free

telephone — is scheduled to rise from 35.9 to 37.5 million

between FY 93 and FY 95 despite a 631 FTE cut. It is

important to recognize that the number of taxpayers seeking

assistance is rising each year, so that overall service level

or percentage of taxpayers assisted is falling. This means

more and more busy signals and more and more calls terminated

without contacting an assistor — a very unhealthy impact on

voluntary compliance. A few years ago, IRS set a service

level objective of 85%, but now it does not even publish the

figure in its budget. We estimate that probably 4 out of 10

taxpayers who call IRS will not get through if this budget is

adopted

.

While these impacts on revenues and operations depict the
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consequences of the Administration's budget, these are by no means

the larger and more serious consequences . A stop-and-go budget

projects its consequences long into the future. The impact on

taxpayer attitudes, their perception of the fairness of the tax

system when IRS cannot bring non-compliant taxpayers to account,

can wreak incalculable damage. Whatever damages voluntary

compliance entails not only an enormous loss of revenue ($7 billion

for each one percent decline in the compliance rate), but has the

potential of disillusioning taxpayers with the system in ways that

may prove difficult to reverse.

The irony is that, with better technology, IRS has better

means to identify non-compliance; what it lacks are the means to

pursue and deter it. Thus, the Federal government is failing to

realize full value from its investment in Tax System Modernization.

The IRS should be congratulated for setting a goal of reaching 90%

compliance by the year 2001, but the FY 1995 base budget proposal

will not accommodate that goal without the addition of the 5,000

FTE revenue initiative.

The Administration's Proposed 5,000 FTE Revenue Initiative

The President's budget contains a brief description of the

proposed 5,000 FTE revenue initiative. It states as follows:

"IRS Initiative — The 1990 budget agreement

included an IRS tax compliance initiative,

which provided additional funding for

activities that would reasonably be expected
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to increase revenue collections. The

Administration is considering a similar

multi-year IRS initiative— beginning in

1995—to increase taxpayer compliance further.

This initiative would add 5,000 FTEs to

compliance efforts in 1995, most of whom would

be used to increase the number of focused

examinations of tax returns to collect more

delinquent taxes, and to make more effective

use of information-reporting documents

.

"The cost of this program would be $405

million per year, or $2,025 billion over 5

years . The initiative will yield far more

revenue than it costs over the five-year

period, and would continue to enhance tax

revenue after that period (assuming continued

funding at the same rate.) In view of this

deficit-reducing potential, the Administration

would consider budgetary treatment similar to

the 1990 budget agreement, under which the

cost of the initiative was considered outside

the discretionary caps . Under no

circumstances would the Administration permit

projected additional revenues to fund

mandatory spending increases or tax

reductions . Subsequent to the release of the

President's budget, the Administration will

work with the Congress to develop such an
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initiative. Therefore, the revenue yield and

costs of this initiative are not reflected in

the President's 1995 budget itself."

IRS has provided the following estimate made by Treasury's

Office of Tax Analysis of the total revenue of $9.8 billion

projected for the initiative:

Revenue in Billions

FY 95
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for every dollar invested in improved compliance. There is reason

to believe that Treasury's revenue estimate is probably

conservative. We base this on the results to date of the FY

1991-1995 initiative, which by September 1993 had already exceeded

its objective.

According to IRS' Tracking Report for the FY 1991 Compliance

Initiative, the five-year goal was $9,778 billion, but through

September 1993 IRS had collected $13.6 billion, thereby exceeding

the goal by nearly $4 billion. Most of this exceptional

performance stemmed from Counsel /Appeals closing more

higher-yielding cases, accelerated closure of coordinated

examination program (CEP) audits, and higher than expected yield

from excise tax examinations. It is unlikely that the President's

proposal will rely on the same program mix as the 1991 initiative,

but experience since 1991 indicates that a well-conceived

compliance initiative would be a good bet.

NTEU supports the President's proposal not only because it

will reduce the deficit, and repair the gaps in the IRS budget, but

because it aims at improving the overall level of compliance.

There is strong evidence from IRS' tax gap, non-filer, and accounts

receivable studies that voluntary compliance needs shoring up. The

indirect effect of stronger enforcement on compliance has the

potential of delivering a large additional revenue yield. Most

importantly, we will be strengthening and preserving one of our

most important institutions, the voluntary compliance system.

Redeployment and Retraining Within IRS
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Technological advance creates higher-skilled and higher paying

jobs while giving IRS employees modern tools to carry out their

missions . It is a fact of life that organizations must continually

reinvent the way they perform their work in order to absorb the

latest technology. IRS and NTEU now confront this task on a scale

never before experienced. Implementation of IRS' strategic

Business Vision will send organizational change cascading through

the workforce, requiring redeployment to compliance activities of

large numbers of workers no longer needed in customer service and

processing operations.

IRS and NTEU have agreed to work together to manage change to

create a highly-skilled work force with expanded capabilities to

serve the taxpaying public. Central to this task is a commitment

to retraining and redeployment of those who see their jobs and

career opportunities threatened by technological advance . The

Subcommittee has asked whether this is a feasible concept, in that

many clerical workers may not be able to absorb the training

essential to perform compliance functions. Allow me to address

this issue.

Workforce management requires a broad range of tools to enable

an organization to acquire the mix of skills needed to do its job.

Retraining and redeployment are critically important, but so is the

ability to recruit from the outside by being competitive in the

marketplace for technical talent and educated entry-level workers

.

So is the ability to offer career progression in a chosen

specialty, and provide incentives to skilled workers to remain with

10
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the Service for a full and satisfying career. There are other

management tools — term appointments, directed reassignments, use

of part-time and temporary workers, and many others — in the kit

of human resource managers . All of these tools must be used

together to attain the goal of a highly-skilled workforce and the

right mix of occupations.

Some individuals may not be retrainable for some occupations

,

and this can be identified early on through performance reviews and

aptitude testing. Under the Redeployment Understanding concluded

by IRS and NTEU last year, other opportunities will be sought for

such workers, if they are career and career conditional employees,

to enable them to maintain their grades. These opportunities

include further training and extended on-the-job training

assistance.

The fact that some individuals may not be retrainable does not

invalidate the soundness of the joint commitment by NTEU and IRS to

use retraining and redeployment extensively to manage change. What

we are saying is that we expect more compliance jobs to open up as

the savings from TSM are redirected to the line. We will look

carefully at the skill requirements of those jobs and match them

with the pool of redeployable workers, using training where

appropriate to ensure that the match is complete.

Under the joint Redeployment Understanding, this process of

matching workers to available jobs is worked out locally, job by

job and worker by worker. A successful personnel program makes its

mark one individual at a time. You can rest assured that there

11
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will not be a wholesale dumping of clerical workers into

enforcement jobs. Our Understanding provides for competitive

hiring from the outside if available jobs cannot be properly filled

from the pool of redeployment eligibles. But IRS and NTEU have

agreed that, before going outside the Service, we will make every

effort to retrain and redeploy our career and career conditional

workers

.

The objective is to place permanent employees into permanent

positions, and seasonal employees into seasonal positions. The

Understanding contains a set of principles to guide local units in

implementing this. It provides for preparation of local plans at

each site with redeployment eligibles, and for recall of career and

career conditional seasonal employees to allow them to remain in

work status for a sufficient period to ensure maintaining the full

range of employee benefits, including health insurance.

NTEU and IRS have agreed to develop specific site redeployment

plans no later than July 1, 1994. These redeployment plans will

identify how the parties will accomplish redeployment of eligible

employees by January 1, 1999. The plans will maximize the use of

saved grade and pay authorities, job sharing opportunities, and the

part-time career act. It will utilize incentives, such as

early-out retirements and resignation buyouts, authorized by the

Federal Workforce Restructuring Act currently pending before

Congress. IRS has agreed to an important provision which will

divide early-outs and resignation buyouts equally between

redeployment eligibles and other employees on a service-wide basis.

Redeployment plans will provide a reasonable amount of official

12
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time to enable eligible workers to participate in career planning

and counseling, including individual career assessment and

aggressive outplacement assistance.

To interpret the Understanding, approve local site plans, and

render binding decisions in case of disagreement, IRS and NTEU have

established a Redeployment Resolution Council. NTEU and IRS each

have two positions on the Council, and there will be a neutral

third party chosen by NTEU and IRS representatives

.

I have previously mentioned the importance of education and

training to the redeployment program because it gives us the

ability to match the right skills to the right job. The

Understanding states

:

"The IRS recognizes that employee training and retraining is
a critical component of a successful redeployment effort and
budget decisions must be made which reflect this
priority. "...
"IRS and NTEU recognize there are many redeployment eligible
employees who are not basically gualified for some continuing
positions. IRS and NTEU will explore providing skill
enhancement training:

1. Internally through the IRS Corporate Education
Program

2. Externally from colleges and universities."

In closing, Mr. Chairman, you can see that both IRS and NTEU

attach great importance to education and training, not only to meet

current redeployment needs , but as an indispensable resource to

enable the Service to continue to "reinvent itself" as technology

develops . The training base in IRS needs urgent budgetary

attention. Congress must ensure that education and training funds

are not cut. We need an "education and training chairman" who will

13
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give priority attention to this area. We hope we can count on you.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. Are there any

questions?

14
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Mr. Spratt. Thank you very much, Mr. Tobias.

You raise a question that we didn't cover with the Commissioner,
and that is if we have the compliance initiative, whether we can

take the people who are going to be freed up from different posi-

tions, examiners, processors, people who are right now working the

assembly line, as you put it, and make them customer service reps

who can, respond online, to questions that taxpayers have when
they call in to the Internal Revenue Service, or become examiners
and sit examine, astutely, returns that are filed.

Is this possible? Are we confusing in our minds the types of skills

that are out there and simply assuming that you can take an apple

here and make it an orange there?

Mr. Tobias. I think not, Mr. Chairman. I think that what we are

finding now, and what we are going to be finding in the future, is

that trie skills of these people in the service centers are vastly

underutilized, that we have acquired in the service center a work
force that is vastly overqualified for the kind of work that they are

currently performing, and in fact are eager and able to be trained

to do new and more difficult work, and, of course, new and more
difficult work that will pay them a little bit more money than the

work that they are performing today.

Mr. Spratt. How much training is going to be required to take

somebody who is essentially doing a data input job today and giv-

ing that person much more cognitive responsibilities, let's say?

Mr. Tobias. Well, for example, I think Mr. Mader testified earlier

that, over the last 2 or 3 years, 4,000 people who were doing that

kind of work are now tax examiners, which is the sort of entry level

work that is performed in centers, the entry level examination, tax-

payer correspondence, and response to taxpayer kind of work. And
these people are doing a good job.

So I think that it is possible to make that transformation. I cer-

tainly am not going to tell you, Mr. Chairman, that every single

person who is doing this kind of work can do more complex, more
difficult work. That's just not true. But I think that the vast major-

ity can.

And I think for those who can't there will remain some of this

lower skilled work. It is still going to be done in the centers, be-

cause every single return is not going to be filed electronically,

every single return is not going to be scanned in. So there is still

going to be some work left over after all of the hardware and soft-

ware is implemented in the 7-year period.

Mr. SPRATT. What is your impression, overall, of TSM, Tax Sys-

tems Modernization?
Mr. Tobias. It's kind of interesting. I was speaking to a consult-

ant not so long ago, who was working with the Internal Revenue
Service, and I asked him why he was doing the work, because he
was complaining vigorously about the competition that was inher-

ent in getting the job. He was used to buddying up to some CEO
and getting the consultant work.
And he said that he sought the work aggressively because TSM

constituted the largest change effort going on in the country today,

in the public or private sector. So the implementation of the hard-

ware and software, coupled with the leveraging of the increased ef-
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ficiency and productivity, is, he described, the largest change effort
going on anywhere.
Mr. Spratt. Do you agree with that assessment? Is it that revo-

lutionary?
Mr. Tobias. I believe that, in the next 7 years, every single Inter-

nal Revenue Service employee will be touched by Tax Systems
Modernization. I mean, when the Commissioner was talking about
a taxpayer calling the Internal Revenue Service and, similar to
American Express, being able to receive a correction in a tax return
in one call, that will transform the way we do business. And the
goal is that 95 percent of the time that will happen.
Right now, the data is in three or four different data bases. We

have to ask somebody to bring us the return, and we look at the
return, and then we write back. Then, as she said, the stuff crosses
in the mail. It's very inefficient and very ineffective.

It will, in fact, make a huge difference. If you're a revenue agent,
you will be able to have access to data bases, independent data
bases, that you just do not have access to today, to determine the
kinds of returns that you will audit, and once you audit them, to
compare this return against a larger data base. It will change very
dramatically, in a positive way, the way the Internal Revenue
Service does business.
Mr. Spratt. Do you think it's working to the extent that the per-

sonnel outlined in your testimony, on pages 2 and 3, are truly, real-
ly being freed up so that they can be redeployed? For example, tax-
payer services, 631 positions. Returns processing, 4,022 positions.
Examinations, 3,621 positions. Is TSM working to the point where
it is freeing up these resources so that they can be channeled into
more focused compliance efforts?
Mr. Tobias. I think I was putting the information on pages 2 and

3, Mr. Chairman, to point out that the budget, as proposed, is inad-
equate, and that if this is the way it's implemented, we will be in
a failure mode. That's why I'm urging that what's on 2 and 3 be
supplemented by the compliance initiative and that we not have a
net reduction of 3,621 people in examination, but that we have per-
haps a reduction of somewhere in the neighborhood of 1,500 rather
than 3,600, when you add the people that will be brought back
through the compliance initiative.

Pages 2 and 3 are to show what would happen in the worst case
scenario, and I think it would be a significant problem. The only
place we see the impact of TSM to date is in returns processing.
That's the only real place we are seeing just the initial, incremen-
tal leveraging of TSM. The real large impact is going to come in
fiscal years 1996 and 1997, with the huge purchases of hardware
that are on the way.
Mr. Spratt. I have some more questions. Let me turn it over to

Mr. Cox and then Mr. Horn, then I will come back with a few more
questions.
Mr. Cox.
Mr. Cox. Yes. It seems to me that the redeployment understand-

ing is probably at the core of how IRS is going to implement the
TSM changes throughout the work force. You have described it

somewhat in your testimony. I also understand that our staff, at
one point, had a copy of it. I wonder if I might just ask if you could
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provide us with one, because right now we do not have a copy of

it.

Mr. Tobias. I would be glad to do that.

Mr. Cox. I appreciate that.

Most of what you describe about the redeployment understanding
is comforting. You state in your testimony tnat there will not be
a wholesale dumping of clerical workers into enforcement jobs and
that what you are really after is trying to make sure that you look

inside first. And if you can't find the right people for the job inside,

then you go outside.

All of my experience in the workplace suggests to me that man-
agement usually overlooks people inside, because it always looks

more attractive to hire somebody outside. You only see their

resumes. You only see the good things they have done in life. You
have to hire them to find out what they can't do.

Mr. Tobias. Where their warts are.

Mr. Cox. Exactly. Exactly. So I think that that is all to the good
and that the nut crunching comes when we make the fine distinc-

tion: We are looking inside first. We are interested in maintaining
as many existing personnel as possible. Is this person trainable or

not? How much snould we invest in finding out? Is it cheaper to

go outside, and so on?
I have to say that I have my doubts about how far we can take

this notion of training people, as it were, from scratch. To the ex-

tent we are talking about someone who was a clerical worker at the

outset, the amount of training required to get from here to there

is absolutely extraordinary.

Mr. Tobias. Well, Mr. Cox, I really think that you may be over-

estimating the amount of training that is needed, and particularly,

I guess, with respect to the conversation that you were having with

the Commissioner about contracting out.

In all of the discussions that have occurred about contracting out

in the past, the real issue has not been to assign tax delinquent

accounts to somebody on the outside and have them go out into the

field and seize goods or unpaid taxes. The issue has been whether
or not there might be some way of using outside people to make
telephone calls at an earlier stage in the collection process. Because
we certainly know that, if we call a taxpayer 2 months after they

fail to pay, you are much more likely to get money than if you wait

for 2 years.

Now, the kind of people who work in these centers are particu-

larly and peculiarly able, with not a great deal of training, to do

that kind of work. And they already are in the Internal Revenue
Service, they are already in the system, so applying those people

to that kind of work would indeed be a savings in comparison to

any kind of contemplated contracting out.

So there is a perfect example of how people with not a whole lot

of training, not the same amount of training that would have to be
applied to someone from the outside, if you were to give them that

work, could do that kind of work and have a real huge bang for

the buck.
Mr. Cox. Well, there are really two issues here. The pilot pro-

gram that OMB has suggested would, in the near term, in any
case, be just that. So it wouldn't really make a mark on IRS's over-
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all business, and certainly it wouldn't substitute in any way for ca-
reer or career conditional employees at the service.

In addition, we are talking about not only audit work or collec-

tion work but also the kind of tax advice over the telephone that
the chairman referred to.

Mr. Tobias. That's correct.

Mr. Cox. It takes very little to get somebody's tax return into a
complicated question. Once you go a little bit bevond the W-2 if

you have a condo that you are trying to sell and you can't sell it

over an extended period of time, so you take a renter in, suddenly
you're a landlord. If vou have any kind of savings at all, and you
make the mistake of putting it into some securities of any kind,
suddenly you have all kinds of issues about original issue discount,
capital gains, and so on.

Mr. Tobias. And one of the ways that we
Mr. Cox. If you are self-employed, you have all manner of ques-

tions about cost of goods and legitimate business deductions.
Mr. Tobias. But the way we handle that—we have a method of

handling that, and we do not have one person who has an encyclo-
pedic knowledge of the tax code. We can't train anyone to have that
kind of knowledge, so we have specialists. This is actually one of
the reasons that has led to such dramatic increase in the accuracy
rate of the telephone calls.

I think Mr. Westfall testified that, when someone calls in to
many of the sites, they can self-select, if they have a specialized
question, to a person who is a specialist in that area. If one of the
taxpayer assisters gets a call, the answer to which they do not
know, they immediately send it to a specialist to provide the an-
swer, as opposed to either giving an incorrect answer or no answer.
So we really have met the issue of complex questions by provid-

ing specialists as backup to answer the questions.
Mr. Cox. I think that is absolutely essential. There is no ques-

tion that the degree of difficulty involved in answering many tax
questions that are common to the returns of ordinary Joes and
Janes goes far beyond what you might learn in a few months.

I should say that I used to teach Federal income tax at Harvard,
and I had the occasion one time to be on television with Fred Gold-
berg, who was then Commissioner. Fred and I actually used to
practice law together. And I asked him on the air whetner or not
he used an accountant to help him prepare his tax return. He is

one of America's finest tax lawyers, in addition to having been
Commissioner at the moment.
And I told him that, even though I used to teach the subject, I

found it necessary, even though I was now just a government em-
ployee and had a pretty simple return, to use an accountant. He
acknowledged that he did too.

I do not think we do a service to the citizenry, generally, if we
try to trivialize the complexity of the Code, the regs, and compli-
ance with it. I will just share with you two cases that I have ongo-
ing, that I have been working with some time.
One of my constituents, I will call her Emily, was notified in

1990 that she owed $22,700. To meet the liability, she sold her
house and paid the IRS, on the spot, $20,000 in equity from the
sale. As a result of that transaction and after that transaction, she
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had no income and moved into—I've seen it—a rundown apart-
ment. She struggled to work out a payment plan. The IRS stalled

and delayed, and she now owes over $30,000 from the same liabil-

ity as a result of penalties and interest.

She first filed an offer in compromise, in October 1991, and
heard nothing, although she followed up many times. She finally

received a call, in January 1993, and was asked to update her offer

because it was no longer current. She met with a representative
from the IRS in March, who stated that she would recommend ac-

ceptance of Emily's offer.

Last October she received another call from the same Service of-

ficial who stated she would again need a new offer because the
offer they had was outdated. This gentleman stated that he had
not had time to review her earlier offer. Emily was told that, if her
new offer was not submitted the next day, it would automatically
be rejected. She complied, but at this point, 3V2 years after starting

out, Emily is still trying to pay her liability. She has been given
no response from the IRS to the date of this hearing, nearly a half
year after her last proposal.

The bottom line is that, because of the way the Service handled
this, Emily will likely be filing for bankruptcy. Under the chapter
she will be filing, the Service's debt will be discharged, and the IRS
will get nothing instead of the amount she was offering, which she
was going to borrow, because she hasn't any assets or savings. In
this case, neither the government nor Emily benefited from the IRS
intransigence.
The second case involves a small business. The company execu-

tive had a liability with the IRS that he tried for several years to

address and to pay. The IRS transferred the file no less than three

times and lost it no less than four times. His file was lost at the
IRS for 6 months on a single occasion.

The truly horrifying bottom line of this case is that interest and
penalties accrued while the business was trying to pay its liability.

I contacted the local IRS office several times, legislative affairs

here in Washington, DC, and the Office of Tax Policy. The case still

hasn't been resolved. The business has reduced its work force, and
it hasn't, of course, been able to invest in new products which are

critical to its economic future.

The IRS is going to generate, as these two cases illustrate, far

more revenue if we have business-sawy people, sensitive to nego-
tiation as well as the vagaries of the tax law, in these positions.

Maybe such people need to be paid more.
Mr. Tobias. You'd get a lot of agreement with that.

Mr. Cox. I think that's right. I do not deny the degree of dif-

ficulty involved. I've met with NTEU employees many times and
heard the stories. I know what it's like being on the other side from
hearing these stories. I know there is even threat to life and limb,

on many occasions. So, in addition to being a tax expert, you might
need to be a self-defense expert.

Mr. Tobias. Well, the fact is that the revenue officers in the In-

ternal Revenue Service are subject to more assaults than any other
group of employees in the Federal Government, including FBI, in-

cluding DEA, including CIA.
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Mr. Cox. The irony is that this can be a vicious circle unless, in
virtually every case, we are providing the best kind of expertise to

solve the problem. Otherwise, we end up using a lot of man and
woman hours, but we do not get the result. We can take up 3V2
years with a case like this and end up with no money. And all the
time that has gone into it, ultimately, you would have to chalk up
to a deadweight loss.

It is a compassionate objective to try to preserve everybody's job,

but I would just suggest that the kind of compassion that we really
need, as a government, is compassion toward the millions of citi-

zens who pay taxes. They are the ones most in need of compassion
and service. And the process, if directed that way, is going to yield
more revenues to the government at the same time.
Mr. Tobias. Well, I can assure you, Mr. Cox, that your concerns

are well protected by the Internal Revenue Service management
group who, as a group, have historically had more discharges and
disciplinary actions against Internal Revenue Service employees
than any other agency. So I think that they are particularly ag-
gressive in ensuring that the standards that are articulated for In-

ternal Revenue Service employees are followed.

This redeployment effort is not a make-work effort, and it's not
a job preservation effort. It's a reinvestment effort of people who
have skills and abilities and are able, I believe, through training,

to make significant contributions to the public. I mean, that's what
this is all about. I believe that we can deliver on that over and over
and over again.

So I believe that the interests that you have just articulated are
going to be well protected.

Mr. Cox. Thank you.
Mr. Spratt. Mr. Horn.
Mr. Horn. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Tobias, you probably heard the question I asked for the

record. Let me ask it to you on the record. In essence, the IRS says
that many full-time equivalents, FTE's, will be made available

through TSM, and they will be put in front line, compliance-related
positions or enforcement staff.

So, question one, what kind of skills will be necessary for the em-
ployees who are working in front line, compliance-related positions?

What is your assessment of that?
Mr. Tobias. Well, it depends on the job to which these people are

assigned. Tax examiner is the least skilled job. The backbone of the
new IRS is the customer service representative. That job has not
been specifically designed. We are in the process of doing that right

now. The customer service jobs will include what has heretofore

been done at the automated collection sites and taxpayer service.

And then the more traditional jobs of tax auditor, revenue agent,

revenue officer.

I also see that some of these people can perform jobs as audit
aides and collection aides, assisting revenue agents and revenue of-

ficers with the lesser skilled kind of work, thereby freeing them up
to do the more complex work, similar, not exactly the same, but
similar to a paralegal kind of operation.
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Mr. Horn. What sort of supervision modules are we talking
about? One supervisor that sees the total picture could maybe run
seven of these paraprofessionals?
Mr. Tobias. I really do not know the answer to that. I do not

know what the structure will look like, because, as I say, we are
just in the process now of trying to design the work flow, design
the work and the work flow.

Mr. Horn. Well, looking at the people who might be displaced as
a result of modernization, automation, all those things, and sort of

having some sort of feel for the types of skills they now possess,

what are we talking about in terms of likely jobs that will still be
available and might grow? Are we talking about, one, traits of per-

sonality, such as being pleasant to people and articulate and can
be understood at the other end of the telephone? Is that one cat-

egory?
Mr. Tobias. Sure. Sure.
Mr. Horn. OK. How much formal education, if any, is needed to

perform the type of skills in jobs that might be available, high
school degree, community college degree, bachelor's degree from a
college or university?
Mr. Tobias. Currently, in the taxpayer service operations, a high

school degree is required.

Mr. Horn. Is that a sufficient literacy level in your judgment?
Mr. Tobias. With training it is, yes.

Mr. Horn. Any other skills? Personality, some literacy, ability to

read instructions, whatnot?
Mr. Tobias. Sure.
Mr. Horn. What else do we need?
Mr. Tobias. I think the mix of those skills will depend on the job.

I mean, if someone is a revenue agent, obviously, the analytical

skills would predominate over the personality skills. If someone is

a customer service representative, the personality skills might pre-

dominate over the analytical skills. So I think it's really the mix
of skills will depend on the specific job. I mean, if someone is an
audit aide, then someone has to be very quick with numbers.
Mr. Horn. As you look at the current training given by IRS

when they bring people into the system for these jobs, are there

any additions that are needed, when we are talking about people

that are already there doing other things, might be less complex,

might be more complex, in terms of use of current-day equipment?
What do you think needs to be added?
Mr. Tobias. What I hope happens and what we have been push-

ing to happen is that the Internal Revenue Service changes the

concept of training or specific skills delivery to, I guess what a lot

of companies have adopted and incorporated into their culture, and
that is a learning culture in the Internal Revenue Service, where
people have access, particularly through interactive computer
learning, to skills development based on need.

So if I look at this job over here, and there are 10 elements to

this job, I need skills in eight, I have in two, I can get the eight

modules that I need. If I look over here, I'm doing this job, but I

look over here, and I might like to do this job in the future, that

I could have access to the skills development so that I would make
myself eligible to get this job over here.
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Now, I think that's the direction that the Internal Revenue Serv-
ice is planning on taking. It will be a very different place for em-
ployees to be, in that kind of environment, than an environment
where you walk in, and your first 2 weeks on the job, or 3 weeks,
or whatever it is, you get training, and then you're never heard
from again. I mean, that's not a place where people get challenged
and their best intellect is called on and constantly refreshed. We
all need that.

So I'm hopeful that we have a learning environment as opposed
to a mere transfer of skills, which is the current situation.

Mr. Horn. Well, that's an excellent response. To what degree do
you see sufficient career ladders within the IRS that give people
some hope that, if I'm in this job now, I can do just what you have
suggested, either be over here or over there, and here's what I need
to do to reach that goal? Are there career ladders that would take
a person from the bottom of the agency right up?
Mr. Tobias. The answer is sort of yes. When I say "sort of yes,"

what I mean by that is that, for example, if you're a tax examiner,
you can be a 3, 4, 5, 6, 7. If you're a revenue officer, you can be
a 5, 7, 9, 11, 12. Your career ladder is 5, 7, 9, then you compete
for an 11 and a 12. If you're a revenue agent, you are a 5, 7, 9,

11, compete for a 12 and a 13. There are few 14's that are now
available.

But I think it's pretty clear that one of the things that has super-
ficially restricted the development of the skills of Internal Revenue
Service employees is the idea that vou have to get promoted. In
order to get a promotion after you nave acquired all these skills,

you have to become a manager. Some folks do not want to be a
manager.
One of the things that I'm hopeful of is that Congress will favor-

ably consider a package of legislation that is, I think, about to come
from the administration, that will allow for reclassification so that
the highest skilled people can be the equivalent of the lowest man-
agerial folks, so that those who want to depend on their skills and
their skill development can do so without having to become a man-
ager, in order to get a promotion at the top of their career ladders.
I'm hopeful that can happen. It would make a significant dif-

ference.
Mr. Horn. Well, I completely agree with you. And let me tell

you, a package like that would have my strong support, because I

feel very strongly—I've come out of education, and I see our great-
est mistake is to take a very highly effective, able, communicative
teacher, K through 12, or professor in a college or university, and
make administrators out of them, and they want to aspire to that
simply because it pays more.
Mr. Tobias. Exactly.
Mr. Horn. And the fact is, we lose an outstanding teacher and

an outstanding professor and have a so-so administrator.
Mr. Tobias. Or a subperformer.
Mr. Horn. Yes. Often, to be an able administrator, you do not

need to be a nobel prize winner. What you need is to have some
skills of personality and listening to people, and so forth. And you
ought to get hazard pay for some of that. But you certainly, I think,
have put your finger on that.
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I would like, Mr. Chairman, for the staff to pursue, with the

agency, the degree to which there is any cross fertilization in the

upward mobility between those lines you described and the others

they might have where people have actually moved from one to the

other, to see if any of this works at all under the current cir-

cumstances.
Mr. Tobias. It does to a limited degree. For example, if someone

is an accounting aide, they can, with additional schooling and spe-

cialty in taking courses in the tax code, they can become tax audi-

tors and then become revenue agents. So someone who starts at a

4, 5, 6, maybe, can become a 13 over time.

But the problem is that there isn't the environment in the agency
which encourages this kind of opportunity. I'm hopeful, with this

redeployment, it will be a totally different atmosphere, where peo-

ple will indeed be encouraged to go from one line to another.

Mr. Horn. Now, as head of the union, have you been involved

with the management of the agency as to the amount of resources

really needed to accomplish this retraining effort? Are you satisfied

with what they are asking for? Do you think it's a realistic pack-

age?
Mr. Tobias. I think that the $405 million is critical to the suc-

cess of the retraining effort. Without the $405 million, it won't hap-

pen. It will not happen.
Mr. Horn. What assurances have the employees received that

these resources will be forthcoming? Is it simply, we are the guys

and gals up here?
Mr. Tobias. It's in your hands.
Mr. Horn. In our hands.
Mr. Tobias. It's in your hands.
Mr. Horn. So they are saying, "We are with you. It's the other

end of the avenue you need to talk to."

Mr. Tobias. It's down here. It's on the Hill.

Mr. Horn. Yes. OK. Well, I would hope we would have the vision

to support retraining efforts. This is a key agency, and we should

not be shortchanging you or, in the case of Justice, the Immigra-
tion and Naturalization Service, and the other enforcement agen-

cies so vital to this country's success.

Mr. Tobias. Thank you. I appreciate that.

Mr. Spratt. Thank you, Mr. Horn.
Mr. Tobias, thank you very much for coming here today. Your

testimony was very helpful, not just in terms of adding to the

record, but also in terms of examining the IRS about the effective-

ness. Thank you very much.
Mr. Tobias. Thank vou very much.
Mr. Spratt. The subcommittee is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 12:35 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, to re-

convene subject to the call of the Chair.]
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